Walden University

College of Psychology and Community Services

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Braxton Anthony Morrison

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Gregory Hickman, Committee Chairperson, Human Services Faculty Dr. Ann Morgan, Committee Member, Human Services Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2023

Abstract

The Role of Stigma in Predicting Attendance at Critical Incident Stress Debriefings

by

Braxton Anthony Morrison

MPhil, Walden University, 2023 MS, Walden University, 2019 BS, Upper Iowa University, 2015

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Human Services

Walden University

November 2023

Abstract

Emergency services personnel (ESPs) have been found to have increasing numbers of behavioral health conditions and suicidality due to the traumatic stress they endure in the line of duty. Despite widespread efforts to combat and reduce mental health stigma, rates remain elevated, and responders continue to suffer and lose their lives to suicide. Critical incident stress debriefings (CISDs) are one form of crisis intervention designed initially for ESPs to mitigate and normalize acute posttraumatic reactions while building unit cohesion. The purpose of this quantitative, cross-sectional study was to examine how the presence of stigma in ESPs (law enforcement officers, firefighters, EMS clinicians, 911 telecommunicators, and medicolegal death investigators) and the number of years spent in emergency services predict attendance at CISDs. This study was viewed through the theoretical lens of Richmond's person-in-environment theory due to its holistic and inclusive foundation. The research question for this study was to examine to what extent stigma and years of service among ESPs could predict attendance at CISDs. Results of the study were not statistically significant, X^2 (3, n = 171) = 1.594, p > .001, meaning years of service, when coupled with stigma, could not predict attendance at CISDs. However, future research may consider gender as a variable to study, as over 60% of participants were females. Furthermore, ethnicity and age are recommendations for future research, as many variables may impact attendance when coupled with stigma. Various social change implications may arise from this study, such as researching new variables affecting stigma, as well as impacting crisis organizations' research and interventions for ESPs in the United States.

The Role of Stigma in Predicting Attendance at Critical Incident Stress Debriefings

by

Braxton Anthony Morrison

MPhil, Walden University, 2023 MS, Walden University, 2019 BS, Upper Iowa University, 2015

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Human Services

Walden University

November 2023

Dedication

This dissertation is dedicated to veterans and emergency services personnel who risk their lives every day for the betterment of our communities and experience traumatic stress in the line of duty and service. You are not forgotten, and there are people in the world working to better support you and understand how trauma has impacted your life. I will never forget your sacrifices. This dissertation is also, and most importantly, dedicated to my brother and sister. You are beautiful, amazing young people who can do absolutely anything you set your mind to. I will be here to support and encourage you through any challenge. I love you both more than you will ever know.

Acknowledgments

I would like to acknowledge several people who have made this dissertation possible. Dr. Gregory Hickman, you, possibly most of all, not only made this dissertation possible but made it relatively easy and enjoyable to write. I will be forever grateful that you arranged for me to be in your dissertation shell. There really are not enough words for me to accurately express my gratitude to you. Dr. Ann Morgan, I am honored to have had you as my second member. You were incredibly thoughtful and prompt in your responses. Your feedback was always to the point and encouraging. To both of you, my deepest gratitude.

The "Diss Fam" was a place of support and encouragement that I did not know I needed. The sense of camaraderie and support in the Diss Fam is unmatched by other groups, especially virtual, that I have ever been a part of. I am in a debt of gratitude to all of the Drs. and future Drs. of the Diss Fam I had the pleasure of working with. A special recognition and thanks to future Dr. Darren Stanely. Your guidance throughout this process was more helpful than you probably realize.

I would like to acknowledge my editor, Jennifer Kozar, for her willingness to review my work and provide feedback and suggestions where necessary. Your guidance and mentoring significantly expedited this process and allowed me to more precisely convey my message. I will be happy to return the favor, future Dr. Jennifer Kozar.

Last but certainly not least, I would like to acknowledge all of my family and friends who made this journey of not only the dissertation but the entire PhD program possible, particularly Dr. Michael Leary, for your mentorship and guidance throughout the process. You were a wonderful resource and always provided sound feedback from your experiences. My family provided unconditional love and support throughout this very long journey, especially my brother and sister. Calli and Alex, I acknowledge the sacrifices we had to make as a family and you as individuals, from not doing things to me spending hours on end in my office to my irritable moods from being on the computer and researching. The sacrifices you and our family made for me to complete this journey are not lost to me, but I am grateful you both remained my biggest and most enthusiastic supporters. Finally, I could never have gotten through this without my best friend and service animal, Niko. You kept me grounded, focused, and unconditionally loved.

List of Tables	v
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
Background	3
Problem Statement	4
Purpose of the Study	6
Research Questions and Hypotheses	7
Theoretical/Conceptual Framework	7
Nature of the Study	9
Definitions	12
Assumptions	16
Scope and Delimitations	16
Limitations	17
Significance	18
Summary	20
Chapter 2: Literature Review	22
Literature Search Strategy	24
Theoretical Foundation	25
Literature Review	27
Emergency Services Personnel	
Mental Health Stigma	
Crisis	

Table of Contents

Crisis Intervention	39
Peer Support	
Critical Incident Stress Management (CISM)	41
Critical Incident Stress Debriefing (CISD)	44
Organizational Support	
Social Support	
Trauma Membrane	50
Mental Health Disorders	53
Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder	53
Acute Stress Disorder	57
Major Depressive Disorder	60
Generalized Anxiety Disorder	61
Substance Use Disorder & Alcohol Use Disorder	61
Suicidality	
Summary and Conclusions	63
Chapter 3: Research Method	65
Research Design and Rationale	65
Methodology	66
Target Population	67
Sampling Procedures	67
Recruitment	68
Data Collection	69

Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs	69
Demographic Form	69
Self-Stigma of Seeking Help Scale (SSOSH)	70
Years of Service	70
Attendance at Critical Incident Stress Debriefings	71
Data Analysis Plan	71
Data Cleaning & Assumption	72
Research Question and Hypothesis	73
Threats to Validity	74
External Validity	74
Internal Validity	74
Ethical Procedures	75
Summary	76
Chapter 4: Results	78
Data Collection	79
Data Analysis	79
Tests for Assumptions	80
Descriptive Statistics	
Results	83
Summary	86
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	87
Interpretation of the Findings	87

Interpretation of the Theoretical Lens	89
Limitations of the Study	91
Recommendations	93
Implications	95
Conclusion	96
References	98
Appendix A: Permission for SSOSH Scale Use	118
Appendix B: SSOSH Scale	119
Appendix C: Demographic Form	

List of Tables

Table 1. Correlations	. 80
Table 2. Descriptive Statistics - Zscores	. 81
Table 3. Log Odds	. 82
Table 4. Ethnicity of Participants	. 83
Table 5. Gender of Participants	. 83
Table 6. Statistics	. 84
Table 7. Variables in the Equation	. 84
Table 8. Omnibus Tests of Model Coefficients	. 85
Table 9. Classification Tables	. 86
Table 10. Model Summary	. 86

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Emergency services personnel (ESP), historically referred to as first responders, consist of different subgroups including but not limited to law enforcement, emergency medical services (EMS), fire, 911 telecommunications (dispatchers), and the less recognized field of death investigation (Hazell et al., 2022; Miner et al., 2022; Tessier et al., 2021). ESPs respond to various emergency scenes that may be deemed critical or traumatic (Bryant, 2022). Critical or traumatic incidents may cause ESPs to have acute posttraumatic stress (PTS) reactions (Lentz et al., 2021; Tessier et al., 2021). Acute PTS reactions may persist, developing into more chronic and severe conditions such as generalized anxiety disorder (GAD), major depressive disorder (MDD), posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD), substance use disorder (SUD) and/or alcohol use disorder (AUD) due to barriers in help-seeking impacted by the stigmatization of mental health interventions (Anderson et al., 2020; Fogarty et al., 2021).

Many programs have been developed to alleviate the impact of traumatic events, facilitate and reinforce healthy coping skills, and reduce stigma (Andrews et al., 2022; Carleton et al., 2020; Fogarty et al., 2021; Hazell et al., 2022). Critical Incident Stress Management (CISM) is one of those programs designed to mitigate the impact of traumatic events (Carleton et al., 2020; International Critical Incident Stress Foundation [ICISF], 2023). Through CISM, one intervention tactic known as critical incident stress debriefing (CISD) was specifically designed for homogenous groups to facilitate the processing of the traumatic event and promote group cohesion (Price et al., 2022). Furthermore, CISDs naturally normalize participants' reactions to the traumatic event they endured, further reducing mental health stigma through knowledge and education (Krakauer et al., 2020).

Despite widespread efforts to reduce stigma, elevated levels remain, with ESPs demonstrating increasing rates according to recent research (Burzee et al., 2022; Drew & Martin, 2020; Johnson et al., 2020; O'Toole et al., 2022). These elevated stigma levels combined with cultural aspects of the professions have created substantial barriers, real and perceived, in terms of ESPs' help-seeking behaviors for mental health challenges (Andrews et al., 2022; Krakauer et al., 2020). This study examined how stigma among five emergency services subgroups (law enforcement, firefighters, EMS clinicians, 911 telecommunicators, and medicolegal death investigators [MDIs]) and years spent in emergency services may predict their attendance at CISDs. Cultural aspects were assessed by examining stigma among different subgroups to define why the barriers may be higher among ESPs than in the general population. The major sections covered in this research are the introduction, the literature review defining the theoretical foundation and history of the relevant areas, the research design and methodology, results from collected data, and implications for future research and discussion. This research has the potential to benefit many crisis, traumatic stress, and emergency services organizations, individual ESPs, their families, and the community of the U.S. While the results were not as hypothesized, continuing to implement education with younger responders and making CISDs more common may result in less stigma overtime, which in turn may reduce behavioral health challenges among ESPs.

Background

In the 1970s, Jeffrey Mitchell created the group crisis intervention tactic called Critical Incident Stress Debriefing for ESPs to mitigate acute PTS reactions after they endured a critical incident (O'Rourke, 2021; Tjin et al., 2022). The program was intended to be comprehensive of other components, but CISDs became the only intervention ESPs were using as research today demonstrates (Anderson et al., 2022). Critical components of the model, such as one-on-one interventions, clergy support, family support, and preincident education, which are part of the later-developed overall package of CISM, were ignored by emergency services subgroups and crisis interventionists (Carleton et al., 2020; Dangermond et al., 2022). Results from studies on populations that were not intended to receive CISDs have been used for research since the program's inception, potentially skewing results because of negative outcomes and criticism, invoking confusion, and reinforcing the circle of stigma among ESPs by discrediting the program and disputing its effectiveness (Ricciardelli et al., 2020; Wessman et al., 2019). Mitchell realized this and renamed the package of interventions to Critical Incident Stress Management, with CISDs being one tactic of the comprehensive model.

Through the ICISF, the governing body of CISM, it has become a program known worldwide, with a mission to be a leader in crisis intervention for all communities (ICISF, 2023). Numerous studies have been conducted regarding the stigma that surrounds the mental health of ESPs, but no study has been found that specifically assesses if stigma can predict attendance at CISDs when coupled with years of service (Carleton et al., 2020; Fogarty et al., 2021; Horan et al., 2021). Furthermore, no recent

peer-reviewed research has been found that includes MDs in these studies with other ESPs or individually assesses their perceptions of traumatic events, mental health, or stigma.

By eliminating years of services as a variable, even while insignificant, this study yielded further insight into how attendance at CISDs can be predicted and what can be done to increase attendance with that knowledge. Since CISDs are designed to provide education, normalize reactions to the event, and mitigate acute stress reactions, which they have been found to do, stigma reduction may be a natural result (Andrews et al., 2022). Even though numerous programs exist to provide ESPs with immediate mental health intervention through stigma reduction, levels of stigma continue to rise along with behavioral health conditions and suicidality in the emergency services population (Krakauer et al., 2020; Tiesman et al., 2021). Furthermore, stigma is a community-wide issue, meaning the reduction of stigma surrounding mental health requires a community approach to be successful (Hilbrink, 2022). ESPs are often highly regarded in their professions and serve as the saviors and protectors of society (O'Toole et al., 2022; Rikkers & Lawrence, 2021).

Problem Statement

The stigma surrounding help-seeking behaviors for mental health among ESPs (law enforcement officers [LEOs], firefighters, EMS personnel, and 911 telecommunicators) has continued to be prevalent, preventing them from utilizing resources to treat or potentially prevent behavioral health conditions (Carleton et al., 2020; Horan et al., 2021; Krakauer et al., 2020). Two types of stigmas appear to influence the help-seeking behaviors of ESPs: public and self-stigma (Drew & Martin, 2021; Krakauer et al., 2020). Public stigma refers to the negative attitudes that others hold about mental illness or related concepts such as help-seeking (American Psychiatric Association [APA], 2020). Public stigma in the emergency services culture can take the form of social or peer stigma or workplace stigma, which can be detrimental to ESPs mental health due to the lack of social supports that are integral in resilience and recovery after a traumatic event (Drew & Martin, 2021; Hilbrink, 2022; Sanatkar et al., 2022). Self-stigma is the internalization of stigma, such as individuals' shame or guilt about their mental illness (APA, 2020). Public stigma often leads to self-stigma and is linked to how peers react to and perceive other peers who disclose mental illnesses (Ricciardelli et al., 2020).

Increased levels of stigma among ESPs have led to increased behavioral health conditions among the subgroups and an increase in suicidality (Lowery & Cassidy, 2022; Tiesman et al., 2021). CISDs, initially developed for ESPs, is a group crisis intervention tactic utilized to manage acute PTS reactions following a critical (traumatic) incident (Andrews et al., 2022). CISDs fall under a more extensive program called Critical Incident Stress Management, a multi-component crisis intervention approach intended to be delivered by peers (Donovan, 2022). Andrews et al. (2022) found CISDs were more effective than other programs at reducing stigma, improving mental health, and increasing knowledge.

The research of Carleton et al. (2020) is consistent with others regarding stigma as a barrier to ESPs seeking support but also suggested that stigma may be more about their willingness to access support versus their perception of access. Even though the literature has established that the increased prevalence rate of ESPs experiencing traumatic events leads to increased behavioral health problems, and attending a CISD may mitigate symptoms and stigma associated with those behavioral health concerns, rates of stigma remain elevated among all subgroups of ESPs (Anderson et al., 2020; Bowers et al., 2022; Carleton et al., 2020; Tiesman et al., 2021). CISDs as a peer-driven intervention are needed to further reduce the stigma surrounding help-seeking behaviors among ESPs (Horan et al., 2021).

Although the aforementioned research regarding the presence of public and selfstigma in ESPs illuminates important findings, I have found no research that has examined whether the presence of stigma and the number of years spent in emergency services can predict attendance at CISDs. Given the lack of findings, further research is warranted that could examine whether the presence of stigma and the number of years spent in emergency services can predict attendance at CISDs in an effort to address the documented problem of stigma help-seeking behaviors of ESPs (Horan et al., 2021; Krakauer et al., 2020).

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this quantitative, cross-sectional study was to examine how the presence of stigma in ESPs (LEOs, firefighters, EMS clinicians, 911 telecommunicators, and MDIs) and the number of years spent in emergency services predict attendance at CISDs.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

The gap in literature has produced the following research question (RQ).

RQ: How does the presence of stigma in ESPs (LEOs, firefighters, EMS clinicians, 911 telecommunicators, and MDIs) and the number of years spent in emergency services predict attendance at critical incident stress debriefings?

H₀: $\beta 1=\beta 2$: Stigma and years spent in emergency services have no relationship on attendance at critical incident stress debriefings.

 H_a : $\beta 1 \neq \beta 2$: Stigma and years spent in emergency services have a relationship on attendance at critical incident stress debriefings.

Theoretical/Conceptual Framework

The person-in-environment (PIE) theory was used as the theoretical framework for this study. In 1917, Mary Richmond, who has been described as the mother of social work, introduced the concept of the PIE theory by producing a visualized diagram showing how a person is affected by their environment and how the person affects their environment (Universiteit Antwerpen, 2009). Rollo (2022) further states that the PIE theory looks at the individual as a whole, including their background, to understand the reasoning for the changes that have occurred. Rollo noted that the steps taken to apply the PIE theory are assessing an individual's environment, identifying how environmental influences affect their behavior, and providing care on a macro level. The PIE theory is a unique approach because of the holistic nature of the theory factoring in the individual and the environment (University of Calgary, n.d.). The PIE theory comprises four factors: social roles in relationships with others, mental health, social environment, and physical health. Furthermore, in addition to addressing the 'why' behind the influencing factors in the behavior, it provides the next steps for the clinician to take in terms of intervention or treatment. This was an imperative step in integrating this theory, as Carleton et al. (2018) noted, that clinician understanding of mental health challenges among ESPs will better inform their assessment.

The PIE theory was the framework used to guide this research process by facilitating an understanding of the environment of ESPs and the responders themselves through the holistic approach (University Calgary, n.d.). ESPs may be in a unique position within their roles where they are routinely exposed to traumatic events, but helpseeking is commonly stigmatized, and the social environments promote maladaptive coping (Burzee et al., 2022; Donovan, 2022; Fogarty et al., 2021). Examining the social roles and relationships to other factors allowed the connection to be made to how organizational support, social support, and supervisory support all influence stigma and help-seeking behaviors (Hilbrink, 2022). Martinez and Shaw (2016) indicated that a theoretical model examining stigma should include the person doing the stigmatizing and the person being stigmatized and that stigma reduction must consist of multilevel interventions. Numerous mental health disorders were examined in this research, all of which ESPs have been proven to be at an increased risk. The social environment is related to the social roles of ESPs because of the cohesion and camaraderie experienced in these professions (Bowers et al., 2022; Donovan, 2022). Physical health is directly related to mental health and vice versa, making holistic wellness the most suitable option

for ESPs, considering the detrimental effects traumatic events can have on health (Kim et al., 2021).

ESPs as a whole and as subgroups may have different professional cultural aspects within their respective roles than other organizations or civilians. Using the PIE theory to understand how those cultures affect (promote, reduce, discourage) mental health stigma was the first step in assessing the environment of the ESPs in the U.S. This theory has also been used successfully with LEOs to examine the impact wrongful death lawsuits had on them and how they acted as a stressor (Powers, 2022). The PIE theory then facilitated an understanding of how those influences affect mental health stigma within the organization(s) and how when coupled with years of service, did predict attendance at CISDs. Through understanding the environments of ESPs and how the influences affect them, this research may be the primer to enacting the next steps of intervening on a macro level and exploring different variables with stigma. The PIE theory may also provide the framework for future research to determine which stigmatizing factor plays a more significant role from the individual ESPs or their organizations as a whole in predicting attendance at CISDs. Furthermore, given that the PIE theory is a holistic approach, it considers all factors affecting stigma within the emergency services culture.

Nature of the Study

The method chosen for this study was a quantitative, cross-sectional design. The purpose of this quantitative, cross-sectional study was to examine how the presence of stigma in ESPs and the number of years spent in emergency services predict their attendance at CISDs. This was a suitable method for the study since the purpose was to determine what impact the independent variables (IVs) had on the dependent variable (DV) at a single point in time (Babbie, 2016).

Quantitative research is used to extrapolate data and compile it into analyses to make predictions better informing the intended populations (Burkholder et al., 2020; Orlin, 2018). This research utilized a cross-sectional design where the participants took a single survey on whether stigma affects their attendance at CISDs. The survey was available through electronic means for 30 days which ESPs may have completed to determine if their attendance at CISDs was affected due to stigma. The resulting survey answers were categorized into dichotomous would or would not attend answers. Years of service is a continuous variable that was measured through the demographic form (see Appendix C). Personnel that were eligible to complete the survey were certified firefighters, certified and/or licensed EMS clinicians, certified LEOs, and anyone with the authority to arrest, enforce laws, and carry a firearm as part of their duties (e.g., special agent), 911 telecommunicators, and MDIs, including coroners, medical examiners, and anyone with authority to investigate deaths independently.

A total sample size of 149 was found to be appropriate using G*Power calculation with the following parameters: alpha (a) = 0.05 and power = 0.80. Simple random sampling was chosen for this study. Simple random sampling was chosen as a national study of different ESP subgroups was warranted, and it allowed for a more accurate population estimation, adding to the validity of generalizations in the completed study (Frankfort-Nachmias et al., 2020; Polit & Beck, 2010). Furthermore, random sampling reduced the risk of bias by the researcher. The participants were recruited through national efforts and organizations with ties to emergency services, such as FireHouse, Journal of Emergency Medical Services (JEMS) (as the organization, not the Journal), the American Board of Medicolegal Death Investigators (ABMDI), and other national sources. Participants were also recruited through personal connections across the nation.

The first IV that was measured in this study was mental health stigma (X_I) (continuous). Stigma was measured using the Self-Stigma of Seeking Help (SSOSH) scale from Vogel, Wade, and Haake (2006). The SSOSH scale is a 10-item scale used to predict attitudes toward help-seeking. The SSOSH is a 5-point Likert scale (1 = Strongly Disagree, 2 = Disagree, 3 = Agree & Disagree Equally, 4 = Agree, 5 = Strongly Agree). Participants were asked to answer the questions, self-reporting levels of stigma they may be experiencing. The score from the results is averaged; the higher the score, the more stigma an individual may be experiencing about seeking psychological help. The scale had positive reliability (.91) and has been cross-validated with reliable test-retest scores (Furthermore, the scale has demonstrated validity or holds truth across samples (Burkholder et al., 2020).

The second IV was the number of years an ESP had spent in emergency services (X_2) (continuous). This was measured on the survey using a drop-down menu with categories to choose from, allowing the participant to provide a specific range for the number of years. The DV was would an ESP attend a CISD (*Y*) which was a "Would attend", or "Would not attend" (categorical or dichotomous) answer on the survey.

Results were analyzed using multiple logistic regression. Multiple logistic regression is a statistical test used when the researcher wants to use two or more independent variables to predict the dependent variable (Frankfort-Nachmias et al., 2020). Furthermore, logistic regression is used when the outcome variable is dichotomous (Warner, 2012). Lastly, logistic regression is used to estimate the maximum likelihood that something may occur and the probability of that happening (Zach, 2021). Given the parameters of this research, multiple logistic regression was an appropriate choice.

The Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval process was followed, as it is crucial to successful ethical research. Confidentiality concerns were addressed and minimized or eliminated, and the data was and will continue to be kept secure. The survey solicitation was done for departments of the identified emergency services subgroups within the U.S. All survey responses were collected anonymously, with no identifying information obtained. The survey request contained clear, detailed information about the purpose of the study and who was conducting it.

Definitions

Acute Stress Disorder (ASD): The diagnosis when someone has had exposure through witnessing or directly experiencing threatened death or serious harm and has symptoms of intrusion, negative mood, dissociation, avoidance, and arousal from three to 30 days post-incident (APA, 2022).

Alcohol Use Disorder (AUD): According to the APA (2022), "A problematic pattern of alcohol use leading to clinically significant impairment" (p. 490-491)

Crisis: The subjective turning point in one's life after an emotionally significant event or acute distress that interferes with their ability to cope (Merriam-Webster, 2023; Yeager, 2015).

Crisis Intervention: The temporary, active, and supportive intervention with someone or a group experiencing a crisis (Mitchell, 2015).

Critical (Traumatic) Incident: Powerful, traumatic events that have the ability and potential to overwhelm one's normal coping mechanisms (Mitchell, 2015).

Critical Incident Stress (CIS): A state of heightened arousal that does not dissolve after experiencing a critical incident (Mitchell, 2015).

Critical Incident Stress Debriefing (CISD): A group support process designed to facilitate a homogenous group through processing a traumatic event by going from the cognitive domain to the affective domain and then back to the cognitive domain (Mitchell, 2015). CISDs are not psychotherapy nor a substitute for professional mental health services. The group must be homogenous and have experienced the same incident with multiple people experiencing distress, impairment, and/or dysfunction.

Critical Incident Stress Management (CISM): Also stands for comprehensive, integrated, systematic, and multicomponent. CISM is a "specialized package of interventions designed to alleviate the impact of a traumatic event" (Mitchell, 2015, p. 26-27).

Culture: The guiding factor that serves to shape the basic principles of organizations, groups, and individuals (Johnson, 2013).

Emergency Services Personnel (ESP): For the purposes of this study, ESPs are anyone who responds to emergency scenes. This study included LEOs, firefighters, EMS clinicians, and MDIs.

Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD): The diagnosis given to someone who meets the diagnostic criteria in the DSM-5-TR based on excessive anxiety and worry (APA, 2022).

Major Depressive Disorder (MDD): The diagnosis given to someone who meets the diagnostic criteria in the DSM-5-TR based on symptoms of depressed mood and loss of interest or pleasure over a 2-week period (APA, 2022).

Peer: Someone who is in the same workgroup (unit, team) and/or part of the same culture.

Peer Support: The support provided to peers by others in the same workgroup or culture.

Post-Traumatic Growth (PTG): A positive psychological transformation after experiencing a traumatic event (Donovan, 2022).

Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD): The diagnosis when someone has had exposure through witnessing or directly experiencing threatened death or serious harm and has symptoms of intrusion, negative mood, dissociation, avoidance, and arousal for more than one month (APA, 2022).

Psychoeducation: A form of education designed to deliver information on health and well-being in times of stress (Wild et al., 2020).

Public (Workplace) Stigma: Mental health stigma occurring specifically in the workplace (Beyond Blue Ltd., 2015).

Resilience: For the purposes of ESPs, resilience is the ability to bounce back after exposure to a traumatic event.

Self-Efficacy: The belief in one's own self to handle a situation or accomplish a task (Shakespeare-Finch et al., 2015).

Self-Forgiveness: The ability to forgive oneself after a traumatic event (Carpenter et al., 2019).

Self-Stigma: The internalization of stigma, such as individuals' shame or guilt about their mental illness

Social Support: The received or perceived emotional, informational, or practical support from family, friends, coworkers, peers, or social networks (Barrera, 1986; Thoits, 2010).

Substance Use Disorder (SUD): The diagnosis of a problematic pattern of using a substance, meeting at least two criteria, such as using larger amounts than intended, persistent desire, or withdrawal (APA, 2022).

Traumatogenic: Reactions experienced from a traumatic event.

Vicarious Trauma (VT): Indirect experience of trauma through countertransference that causes negative changes (Renkiewicz & Hubble, 2023; Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration [SAMHSA, 2023).

Assumptions

There were several assumptions related to this study. First, there was the assumption that ESPs who took the survey would be experiencing CIS to the level they would benefit from a CISD since they should only be provided if a group of individuals is experiencing distress, impairment, or dysfunction (APA, 2008; Mitchell, 2015). Furthermore, as CISDs should never be used as single interventions and the CISM package is comprehensive of other recommended and necessary components, it is assumed that ESPs had some type of pre-incident training and immediate intervention prior to the CISDs, as well as follow-up care. The study also assumed that the surveyed ESPs were experiencing some level of stigma toward mental health. Another assumption was that a relatively equal number of participants would out the survey from each subgroup and be representative of the population equally throughout the U.S. The quantitative method of research to obtain data could also be considered an assumption, given that people's emotions and feelings are being interpreted statistically.

Scope and Delimitations

This study was delimited to the following subgroups of ESPs, including but not limited to anyone classified as an LEO who has the authority to arrest, enforce laws, and who carries a firearm in the performance of their duties (e.g., police officer, special agent), firefighters, EMS clinicians, 911 telecommunicators, and anyone with the independent authority to investigate deaths (e.g., medical examiners, coroners, and investigators). There was no preferred time in the position as the study aimed to achieve a sample of different years of service as a predictor variable. Participants were recruited from national websites such as *Journal of Emergency Medical Services* (JEMS), FireHouse, and the American Board of Medicolegal Death Investigators (ABMDI), as well as word of mouth and referrals. Participants gained access to a survey link in which they answered questions verifying the subgroup(s) they represented and if they were currently employed as an ESP in the U.S.

Limitations

Internal validity consists of eight variables that may affect a study's internal validity, limiting or discrediting the results if not controlled for (Campbell & Stanley, 1963). These factors are history, maturation, testing, instrumentation, statistical regression, experimental mortality, and selection maturation. Cross-sectional research designs have the inherent flaw with the history of capturing the data at a single point in time but then generalizing the data to be applicable all of the time and inferring a causal relationship (Babbie, 2016). Maturation of this study could be a limitation due to the respondent participating at a time that they may be experiencing unusually high levels of stigma due to a recent traumatic event, if they have attended a CISD with low fidelity, or simply being fatigued (Campbell & Stanley, 1963). ESPs participating in this survey could have had other surveys or tests of a similar nature measuring something related to stigma and/or mental health in a short period affecting the testing. Experimental mortality is a cause for concern due to the internal validity. Given that the response rate for surveys may be as low as half, those participants who began may not have completed or finished the survey affecting the already relatively small sample size needed for this research (Holtom et al., 2022).

These factors that may have affected the study's internal validity were mitigated, considering the researcher was aware of them and followed the model of the chosen design (Babbie, 2016). Correlation designs are specific to when the variables cannot be manipulated (Burkholder et al., 2020). While the participants may feel differently on different days, those feelings are still valid because they are theirs. Furthermore, years of service is specific to how long they have been an ESP, and attendance at a CISD is dichotomous. ESPs may also respond to daily emergency calls, and how they perceive that call is outside the researcher's control. The G*Power calculation has accounted for participants who may not respond and/or finish the survey to still have a valid sample size. Lastly, while generalizability may be difficult among correlation designs, it can be an accurate way to make predictions and use the results for future research.

Significance

This study holds significance in the human services field and several areas identified by Adtalem as Social Determinants of Learning: physical health, psychosocial health, physical environment, social environment, economic stability, and self-motivation (Adtalem, 2022; Sanderson et al., 2021). Psychosocial health and physical health are equally important and affect the overall wellness of a person (Centers for Disease Control [CDC], 2023). Psychosocial health has been proven to increase the risk for many types of physical ailments, such as hypertension or heart disease, often due to chronic stress, lack of social interaction, and physical activity (Carl, 2021; Ohrnberger et al., 2017). While this research focused on mental health stigma and mental health intervention, CISM is a holistic approach that considers all aspects of wellness (Blaney, 2009). The environments

ESPs find themselves in, specifically their organizational environments encompassing their social interactions, may benefit significantly from this research.

The stigma ESPs are experiencing may originate in these physical environments and could be the areas where change must first occur (Horan et al., 2021). While the significance of economic stability in the sense of job security is not addressed in this research, PTS reactions have been found to reduce the performance of ESPs, potentially creating safety hazards (Andrews et al., 2022; Richins et al., 2020). Depending on how the organization is funded, this can create hardships for the organization, the individual ESP, their families, and the community. Lastly, many ESPs may begin work in emergency services due to their willingness and desire to serve and give back to their community with high self-motivation (Pittwire, 2019). However, research has found that over time and with the accumulation of traumatic events and PTS reactions, selfmotivation declines as a psychological consequence, leading back to a potential lack of economic stability and safety (APA, 2022; Lowery & Cassidy, 2022). Addressing the stigma of attendance at CISDs can significantly impact human services through each of these social barriers, many of which are also identified as Social Determinants of Health by the World Health Organization (2023). ESPs must have their basic needs supported and fulfilled, including physical and psychological needs, before learning and growth can occur (Kanel, 2007).

The results of this study, while found not to be predictive, still have the potential to provide much-needed insight into how mental health stigma predicts the attendance of ESPs at CISDs. While there has been significant research on CISM/CISDs, stigma, and

the mental health of ESPs, the use of stigma and the number of years in emergency services to predict attendance at CISDs among responders have not been investigated. Since CISDs are used by many local, state, and national agencies, this research could support hundreds of agencies but, more importantly, thousands of ESPs (Anderson et al., 2020; Donovan, 2022). Organizations that could benefit from this research include the ICISF, American Academy of Experts in Traumatic Stress (AAETS), Green Cross Academy of Traumatology, Benton County Critical Incident Stress Management Team, Iowa Peer Support Network, Iowa Peer Support Foundation, and organizations dedicated to reducing stigma. Aside from potentially predicting attendance due to stigma, researchers may be able to predict stigma based on these factors allowing for early behavioral health intervention. Furthermore, ESPs are part of a community, and increased awareness and social support are proven to aid in the reduction and recovery of mental health challenges, promoting positive social change (Hilbrink, 2022).

Summary

ESPs are prone to experiencing high incidences of critical incidents, putting them at adverse risk of experiencing PTS reactions (Carleton et al., 2020; Drew & Martin, 2021; Johnson et al., 2020; Jones et al., 2020). CISDs are a tactic designed under the umbrella of CISM to mitigate acute PTS reactions and promote cohesion among unit members (Price et al., 2022). Given the fact that social support is one of the best protective factors in preventing and treating post-traumatic stress reactions, as well as the cohesive culture of ESPs, CISDs may be a highly valuable component in preventively addressing the mental health challenges of ESPs (Barrera, 1986; O'Toole et al., 2022; Prati & Pietrantoni, 2010). However, mental health stigma among ESPs is higher than in the general population creating barriers to treatment seeking. This study investigated to what extent mental health stigma and years of service predict ESPs' attendance at CISDs and how they may be correlated to reducing stigma in emergency services professions and subcultures.

Chapter 2 discusses in-depth the aspects of crises and critical incidents, including CISM and CIS. The cultural and organizational aspects of emergency services culture are also discussed, providing insight as to why some mental health challenges exist and how some may be similar and differ among the subgroups. The trauma membrane concept is also discussed and how promoting the use of CISDs when needed and actively working to eliminate stigma may benefit ESPs (Martz & Lindy, 2010). The theoretical foundation for this research is discussed as well, giving insight as to how the PIE theory may be helpful in moving toward the goal of eliminating the stigmatization of mental health help-seeking in communities and why stigma is a community-wide issue (Hilbrink, 2022).

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Emergency services personnel (ESPs) are at an increased risk for developing posttraumatic stress reactions due to the nature of their job duties (Anderson et al., 2020; Brondolo et al., 2008; Fogarty et al., 2021; Krakauer et al., 2020). PTS, along with other factors of their jobs, such as a lack of organizational support and mental health stigma, may lead to increased development of mental health challenges and suicidality among emergency services subgroups (Anderson et al., 2020; Brondolo et al., 2008; Carleton et al., 2020; Drew & Martin, 2021; Haugen et al., 2012; Tiesman et al., 2021). Several programs exist among the emergency services professions to address mental health stigma, such as CISM, which encompasses a tactical group crisis intervention known as CISD. Despite global efforts to reduce stigma, recent research suggests mental health stigma among ESPs remains elevated in comparison to the general population (Burzee et al., 2022; Jones et al., 2020; Jones & Martin, 2021; O'Toole, 2022). Mental health stigma has been found to be the most significant barrier to help-seeking among individuals and has remained so throughout the literature on ESPs (Andrews et al., 2022; Brondolo et al., 2018; Corrigan, 2004; Krakauer et al., 2020).

This issue is further complicated among ESPs because of the cultural, identity, and perception aspects more prevalent in these populations due to the cohesiveness and homogeneity experienced in emergency services cultures (Bowers et al., 2022). This research examined the stigma surrounding help-seeking behaviors among ESPs and how it may act as a barrier for them utilizing resources to prevent or mitigate behavioral health conditions and mental health challenges (Carleton et al., 2020; Horan et al., 2021; Krakauer et al., 2020). This research discusses two types of stigmas: public and selfstigma. Workplace stigma as a form of public stigma, along with self-stigma, appears to influence ESPs the most (Carpenter et al., 2019; Clement et al., 2015; Drew & Martin, 2021; Hilbrink, 2022; Sanatkar et al., 2022). These, in turn, can ultimately lead to label avoidance for the ESPs to deter being perceived or labeled as weak, lazy, dangerous, devalued, or insufficient by their peers (Bowers et al., 2022; Clement et al., 2015; Ricciardelli et al., 2020). Overall, ESPs may feel they lack the organizational support to seek mental health treatment or intervention due to workplace stigma, which can then lead to self-stigma increasing, reducing further the likelihood of help-seeking behaviors, and increasing the risk of mental health challenges (Sanatkar et al., 2022).

The purpose of this quantitative, cross-sectional study is to examine how the presence of stigma and years spent in emergency services predict attendance at CISDs. Andrews et al. (2022) found that CISDs were more effective than other programs at reducing stigma. Given that CISDs are intended to be delivered by peers and encompass an array of topics in the intervention, such as education, healthy coping skills, and normalizing the incident, they appear to be an encompassing intervention designed to mitigate the impact of CIS and direct to further [higher-level] resources and care (Mitchell, 2015). However, if ESPs are not attending CISDs due to stigma, the intervention cannot serve its intended purpose by mitigating, assessing, and referring. Determining if stigma plays a role in attendance at CISDs may allow for more concentrated efforts to eliminate mental health stigma among ESPs, specifically

23

regarding attendance at the interventions designed to reduce stigma further (Horan et al., 2021).

This section is followed by the search strategies used to conduct this research, along with the major sections. The first major section is on ESPs, in which a background on the various subgroups and current statistics and research is provided as to how they are affected by mental health stigma. Next, mental health stigma to be discussed includes seminal and current research on the severity of the problem and specifically discusses sub-topics such as public, workplace, self-stigma, labeling, and devaluing. These two sections are followed by crisis, crisis intervention, CIS management, CISD, the trauma membrane, organizational support, social support, pertinent mental health disorders, and suicidality.

Literature Search Strategy

A comprehensive literature search was conducted, with the Walden University Library being the primary search tool. Google Scholar was also used, which produced similar research articles to the Walden University Library. The primary searches began broad using individual terms consisting of *critical incident stress management, CISM*, *critical incident stress debriefing, CISD, peer support, police officers, law enforcement, emergency medical services, firefighters, first responders, emergency services workers or personnel, public safety personnel, MDIs, medical examiner investigators, and stigma.* These searches yielded several hundred articles combined, which were then narrowed by combining search terms specific to each subgroup of emergency services. For example, law enforcement was used in conjunction with CISD and stigma. A mix of search terms combined with an individual subgroup was conducted until enough articles, or lack thereof, were found to provide saturation of the literature.

All articles were peer-reviewed, as that was set as a parameter for searching in the Walden Library. Over 100 articles were reviewed in total, with approximately 50 being selected for perceived relevance to this topic. One of the main goals for selecting relevant literature was for it to be current in the last five years, of which most of those 50 articles were. Several other articles were selected to be used as seminal works pertinent to defining things such as stigma, CISM, and the emergency services subgroup cultures. Furthermore, very little research consists of the perceived effects mental health stigma has on MDIs personnel and how it may affect their help-seeking behaviors; therefore, the only research that could be found was incorporated.

Theoretical Foundation

The theoretical foundation used for this research was the Person-in-Environment (PIE) theory. The PIE theory is a theoretical framework designed specifically for social work and related disciplines (Kondrat, 2015). In 1917, Mary Richmond introduced the PIE theory through a visualized diagram showing how a person was affected by various aspects of their environment, such as political, spiritual, and family (Kondrat, 2015; Universiteit Antwerpen, 2009). The PIE theory was developed to be a person-centered theory from the foundational framework of understanding the environment to understand behavior to the interventions offered when a treatment plan was being formulated. Because the PIE theory considers an individual's entire background, the steps of the theory can be applied to holistically address the client's needs and apply appropriate

intervention strategies (Kondrat, 2015; Rollo, 2009). Lydia Rapoport (1962) stated that "people may be more susceptible to influence during a state of crisis" and through utilizing the PIE theory, the clinician may be able to direct their interventions better (p. 49).

The PIE theory was chosen as the theoretical framework for this research because of the two-way relationship between understanding the person and the environment (Biscontini, 2023). Understanding mental health stigma and how it affects and impacts ESPs is a unique and multi-level concept due to the personal, organizational, and structural aspects of the culture (Ricciardelli et al., 2020). The PIE theory sought to understand the underlying elements and how they may affect ESPs' attendance at CISDs. Furthermore, given the PIE theory's comprehensive approach to understanding the individual as a whole, care on micro and macro levels can be provided for a more holistic approach (Bisontini, 2023; Rollo, 2009). This approach is necessary when providing crisis intervention, especially through a tactic with the format of a CISD where there are numerous goals, such as providing education, normalizing reactions, promoting group cohesion, and mitigating traumatic reactions (Mitchell, 2015). A significant aspect of crisis intervention work, including CISM and CISDs, is referring the client to further resources and a higher level of care when necessary. Using the holistic approach, the PIE theory allowed each aspect to be considered from first contact to the last University of Calgary, n.d.).

Literature Review

Emergency Services Personnel

Historically, law enforcement, EMS, and fire personnel have been called *first responders* as these professionals are typically the first to arrive at an emergency scene (Bowers et al., 2022; Horan et al., 2021; Jones et al., 2020). These subgroups of ESPs serve many different roles in communities. For example, law enforcement is typically thought of as *serving and protecting* the public and enforcing local, state, and federal laws, depending on the agency's authority and jurisdiction. Firefighters are the ESPs responding to a fire at a home or place of business, as well as some hazardous materials operations, and to provide extrication from structures and vehicles of entrapped victims. EMS clinicians have many roles and functions in the community but are commonly the professionals responding to an injured person and transporting them to a hospital.

Across the country, states have been passing bills to now include 911 telecommunications personnel, commonly referred to as *dispatchers* or *public safety telecommunicators* as first responders. The National Emergency Number Association (NENA) has a current list of states who have incorporated these legislative changes. 911 telecommunications operators may often be one of the least considered ESPs when considering their mental health because they do not physically respond to an emergency scene (Shakespear-Finch et al., 2015). However, data suggests these individuals are also at increased risk of developing mental health challenges such as PTSD (Lilly & Pierce, 2013). Tiesman et al. (2021) found that "17-24% of 911 telecommunicators experienced PTSD, and 24% experienced MDD" (p. 1). 911 telecommunicators may also take calls from one emergency services subgroup (e.g., police dispatcher) or all the subgroups in a given locality. 911 telecommunicators may be required to take specific training known as Emergency Medical Dispatcher (EMD) certification acting as the medical specialty via phone until EMS arrives (Shakespeare-Finch et al., 2015).

EMS is one of the newer branches of emergency services, with its official history beginning in 1970 (National Registry of Emergency Medical Technicians [NREMTs], 2023). EMS clinicians respond to people needing medical assistance and transport them to an appropriate medical facility. They can provide care based upon a tiered system of four levels: emergency medical responder (EMR), emergency medical technician (EMT), advanced emergency medical technician (AEMT), and paramedic. The skills for each level become more invasive and advanced. The vast array of ways to serve as an EMS clinician with additional education and certification provides more opportunities and recognition for the profession. Many people may think of ground ambulances and the EMS clinicians on them when thinking of EMS; however, there are also helicopter emergency medical services (HEMS), tactical emergency medical services (TEMS), wilderness emergency medical services (WEMS), critical care transport EMS, community paramedicine, among others (International Board of Specialty Certifications [IBSC], 2023). Furthermore, increasing numbers of fire departments require firefighters to have a minimum certification level of EMT, with "only 37% nationwide providing no EMS care" (Fahy et al., 2022).

Firefighting may be the oldest emergency services profession in the U.S., tracing back to 1608 with the first recorded fire in Jamestown (Merrimack Fire-Rescue-EMS,

n.d.). Firefighting at that time was predominantly volunteer, which it still is in the U.S., "with 676,900 firefighters being volunteers out of 1,041,200" (Schwartz, 2022). As with law enforcement and 911 telecommunicators, firefighters may be seeing an increase in duties, such as being tasked with responding to emergency medical calls (Fahy et al., 2022). There are also specializations a firefighter can seek, including but not limited to hazardous materials training, officer training, wildland firefighting, and technical rescue. As with other subgroup specialities, each of these subspecialties may require advanced and extensive training.

The official history of law enforcement in the U.S. dates to 1635 when the city of Boston created a night watch program where officers served in a volunteer capacity, unlike today, where it is a career profession (National Law Enforcement Officers Memorial Fund, 2023). Law enforcement is a profession that appears to have increasingly growing responsibilities, from responding to crimes and attending to traffic violations to now intervening in emergency mental health crises, community-oriented policing actions, and homelessness (Heffren & Hausdorf, 2016; Johnson, 2019; Lentz et al., 2021). However, LEOs and all ESPs could potentially use one component of this advantageously, as Fogarty et al. (2021) found that contact with people experiencing mental illness had a stronger effect than education alone. There are also numerous ways to serve as an LEO among different jurisdictional levels, with commonalities being carrying a firearm in the performance of their duties, arrest authority, and the enforcement of laws. Some ways or subspecialties of serving as an LEO include but are not limited to specialized units, such as drug task forces or tactical units, motorcycle or equine units, canine units, or investigations. Each of these subspecialties and being a patrol officer may come with their own risk and rate of exposure of experiencing traumatic events.

These subgroups of ESPs all have similar cultural characteristics among them. Law enforcement, fire, and EMS clinicians often respond to the same scenes and must maintain cohesion and collaboration in the public's best interest (Smirnova et al., 2021). Often, none of this collaboration and effort to address the emergency at hand would be possible without 911 telecommunicators (Shakespeare-Finch et al., 2015). The subgroups typically work as a team throughout their shifts or interact with other ESPs frequently, depending on the rurality of the jurisdiction. 911 telecommunicators may frequently work in teams of two or more, pending the size of the jurisdiction, or be a unit of one. These ESPs often thrive on their cohesive culture and become friends with their coworkers and other ESPs, eliminating others from their social lives because of stress and organizational challenges and demands (Kronenberg et al., 2008; Tiesman et al., 2021).

There is another subgroup of ESPs that may often not be considered when researching the effects of traumatic events but has an equally important role in protecting the public and should not be left out of communication and research (Brondolo et al., 2017). MDIs, including medical examiners, medical examiner investigators, coroners, pathologists, and any other title with the independent authority to investigate deaths within a given jurisdiction, often respond to emergency scenes as well (Crawford & Flannery, 2002; Flannery & Greenhalgh, 2018). This subgroup of ESPs, however, is only needed when a death has occurred at an emergency scene to determine the cause and manner, potentially alienating them from any efforts to mitigate the impact of traumatic events or research into their mental health (Brondolo et al., 2017; Brondolo et al., 2018; Crawford & Flannery, 2002; Flannery & Greenhalgh, 2018). Furthermore, MDIs may differ from other ESP subgroups in their response and isolation. Law enforcement, fire, and EMS are typically at the station or in an on-call status. Regardless, they will likely have a partner or interact with other ESPs during and after the incident. On the other hand, MDIs may be working solely in an on-call capacity, responding from home, and returning home after the incident with little interaction from other ESPs during the call and potentially no follow-up afterward. This isolation could place them in an outcast setting, differentiating them from other ESPs because they are not typically viewed as first responders (Brondolo et al., 2012).

While receiving less attention than more familiar emergency services subgroups (fire, EMS, law enforcement), the field of death investigation is still stigmatized, and MDIs may be at increased risk for developing MDD, PTSD, and vicarious trauma (VT) (Brondolo et al., 2012; Brondolo et al., 2018; Coleman et al., 2016). Death investigator personnel are thought to be at increased risk for these mental health disorders in large part due to the alienation of their role and negative cognitions (Brondolo et al., 2018). Negative cognitions regarding the alienation aspect were found to be a direct link between VT and PTS symptomology and were found to predict depression over time. Furthermore, MDIs were found to encounter common emergency scenes similar to that of other ESP subgroups. MDIs were also found to have more contact with family members, through which they appeared to endure higher levels of VT and depressive symptomology (Brondolo et al., 2018; Flannery & Greenhalgh, 2018). However, psychological debriefing, such as CISDs, has been found to alleviate VT (Everly et al., 1999). Introducing new terminology or redefining *first responder*, *ESP*, or *public safety personnel* may be the first step in alleviating some of the alienation among this subgroup which could, in turn, reduce some of the stigmatization.

Mental Health Stigma

Stigma is a complex multi-component term consisting of several different layers. The term stigma in the context of mental health refers to negative stereotyping or a mark of shame or disgrace, leading to discrimination and rejection (Corrigan & Penn, 1999; World Health Organization [WHO], 2001, p. 16). Stigma was defined by Corrigan (2004) as the most significant barrier impacting the help-seeking behaviors of individuals, which has held true, especially among ESPs.

Stigma among ESPs appears even more complex than among the general population due to the cultural factors that come into context. While each subgroup (fire, EMS, law enforcement, etc.) has some different cultural aspects, many are similar, and the stigma is constructed from the social norms among these subgroups (Bullock & Garland, 2018). These factors often include being male-dominated professions, valuing strength and self-reliance, and being the helpers or protectors of society, not the ones needing help (Bowers et al., 2022; O'Toole et al., 2022). Stigma among ESPs is often negatively correlated with being discredited for showing weakness and being viewed by peers as dangerous, unreliable, deviant, and crazy (Ricciardelli et al., 2020). Furthermore, using mental health services among peers in the emergency services professions can be

seen as "milking the system" and causes a fear of negative evaluations, resulting in the professional feeling devalued (Ricciardelli et al., 2020, p. 266). Stigmatization leads to a substantial help-seeking barrier when responders need mental health care, whether professional or informal, due to the potential change in one's sense of self but do not seek it (Kushner & Sher, 1989).

Self-stigma is a subset of stigma that can be developed from public stigma in one of its various forms. Self-stigma is defined by the APA (2020) as the internalization of stigma, such as shame or guilt individuals possess about their mental illness and is thought to be the most detrimental component (Braaten, 2018). When public stigma is present in ESPs, self-stigma may then be formed among individuals, leading to a significant barrier to treatment seeking (Corrigan, 2004; Horan, 2021; Jones et al., 2020). Public (workplace) stigma can be thought of on the macro level and self-stigma on the micro level (Braaten, 2018). Carpenter et al. (2020) noted that self-stigma can then be broken down further in the aspect that individuals may have stigma regarding a current mental health challenge they have been experiencing and stigma toward help-seeking, potentially because of the public stigma they have experienced. Self-stigma causes an individual to self-label and, in return, be defined by the mental health challenge(s) they are experiencing with residual effects of lowered self-esteem, self-worth, self-efficacy, and perceived acceptability among peers (Carpenter et al., 2020). These factors may discourage ESPs from attending a CISD where they divulge potentially intimate emotions about an event and how it has affected them, even though peer-based interventions provide emotional support (Horan et al., 2021).

Public stigma takes many forms and is a complex concept when discussed regarding ESPs. Public stigma is the general public's reactions, feelings, or misconceptions regarding mental health challenges (Carpenter et al., 2020; Corrigan, 2004). These reactions, feelings, and misconceptions are turned into prejudice that discredits and devalues individuals in the population that are experiencing mental health challenges (Corrigan, 2004; Ricciardelli et al., 2020). The discrimination from public stigma then becomes a significant barrier for individuals wanting to seek mental health intervention or disclose any perceived weakness to their peers for fear of retribution. In the context and culture of emergency services, public stigma may be better defined as workplace stigma.

Workplace stigma is essentially public stigma, but it occurs specifically in the workplace affecting the population within (Sanatkar et al., 2022; Beyond Blue Ltd., 2015). Workplace stigma may be a more appropriate term for research into emergency services cultures because they are essentially their own population and often act as a family or a unit. Andrews et al. (2022) found that "67.5% of Canadian public safety personnel (PSP) would only access support from a colleague and 75.7% from leadership as a last resort" (p. 1). This is a significant barrier considering CISDs, and all CISM interventions are designed to be peer-run and are consistent with the reasoning being the stigmatization of mental health in emergency services (Carleton et al., 2020; Mitchell, 2015). Andrews et al. (2022) also found that "63.7% of Canadian PSPs would never or only, as a last resort, access their employee assistance program (EAP)" (p. 11). This is consistent with Carleton et al. (2020) and Leary (2021), who found that stigma plays a

substantial role in accessing an organizational program, even if designed to reduce mental health challenges and decrease stigma.

Workplace stigma may have more of an impact on ESPs than just promoting the stigmatization of mental health. Slade (2021) found that as chronic stressors and exposure to traumatic events increase in the workplace, the decrease in the motivation of helpseeking behaviors links to a reduction in the general health of ESPs. Workplace stigma directly violates the physical and mental natural culture of emergency services to be strong, supportive, cohesive, and group-oriented (Bowers et al., 2022). Furthermore, as fire and EMS alone respond to more than 50 million emergency calls every year (Jones et al., 2020), the public nor their colleagues or leadership would expect or allow them to stigmatize patients and victims the way recipients of trauma are blamed and devalued in the emergency services workplace settings (Ricciardelli et al., 2020). The concept of stigma in emergency services is of even further interest from the aspect of selflessness among ESPs. This culture of people is often comprised of a mindset to help others and make the world better (Pittwire, 2019). Yet, as a culture, research says colleagues cannot and will not talk to each other about their mental health challenges that are becoming an epidemic (Andrews et al., 2022).

As a result of being stigmatized, one's identity may be altered by being discredited and devalued (Ricciardelli et al., 2020). This may lead to a concept coined by Goffman (1963) known as virtual v. actual social identity. As Goffman notes, a virtual identity is the perceived social identity based on "assumptions rather than fact" about an individual. A virtual social identity may comprise what others expect of them regardless of who they are or what they do. For example, ESPs are called and expected to consistently respond to any emergency call they are dispatched to and prevail as the rescuers, the heroes, for a positive outcome (Axelrod, 2018).

The assumptions and stereotypes from within ESPs' agencies are that showing any sign of mental health challenges will be deemed as a weakness and demonstrate the responder to be unreliable, crazy, and dangerous (Goffman, 1963; Ricciardelli et al., 2020). The lack of organizational and structural support may eventually lead to a selffulfilling prophecy of the ESP experiencing negative stigmatizing effects due to a circle of reinforced stigma leading to a change in their actual social identity. Law enforcement may be at a particularly elevated risk of the consequences stemming from workplace stigma and how it affects their identity due to the machismo and masculinity commonly seen in the profession, as well as the requirement of carrying a firearm (Bullock & Garland, 2018; Drew & Martin, 2021; Van Hasselt et al., 2019; Wester et al., 2010). LEOs may think that if they disclose a mental health challenge, their firearms will be confiscated, altering their perceived identity.

The result of stigma, public and self, and the fear of one's identity being devalued and discredited by peers is label avoidance. Label avoidance is avoiding any label or "denying and hiding symptoms" to avoid detection by others (Bowers et al., 2022). Label avoidance results in ESPs ultimately avoiding help-seeking behaviors even when they may be available to them, such as professional mental health services or peer support services, such as a CISD (Bowers et al., 2022; Carleton et al., 2020; Tessier et al., 2021). This avoidance of help-seeking is causing ESPs to experience high rates of mental health challenges and suicidality when they are already at an increased risk due to their frequent exposure to critical incidents (Horan et al., 2021; Krakauer et al., 2020; Tiesman et al., 2021). Furthermore, when ESPs do seek treatment, the reinforced stigma and desire to avoid stigmatizing labels reduce their rates of adhering to the treatment plan (Bowers et al., 2022; Tessier et al., 2021). This results in a public health crisis as a significant and necessary population are experiencing a layered structural barrier to help-seeking for mental health challenges that could be shifted through change such as CISM interventions (Blaney, 2009; Braaten, 2018).

Crisis

A crisis in the context of this research is in relation to mental health. The term crisis and the concept of crisis intervention can be dated back to the 1800s during the Franco-Prussian War when it was identified that rest, food, and discussion aided soldiers in returning to battle (Mitchell, 2015). Crisis (or psychological) intervention then became more expounded upon in 1916 during World War 1 when it was noticed that soldiers receiving emotional support in frontline hospitals from comrades (peers) were less likely to be evacuated from 'war neurosis' or 'shell shock,' what is today known as PTSD (Crocq & Crocq, 2000). Furthermore, these soldiers had a better prognosis for recovery, furthered by the soldiers remaining on the frontlines for treatment. This led Dr. Thomas Salmon to develop five fundamental principles for crisis intervention that remain true today. Those principles are *immediacy, proximity, expectancy, simplicity,* and *centrality* (further reading under *Crisis Intervention*).

The current history of crisis intervention, often referred to as early intervention or psychological intervention, became a topic of research and discussion after the Coconut Grove fire in 1942 when Erich Lindemann began studying the reactions of survivors (Kanel, 2007; Mitchell, 2015). Gerald Caplan started to work with community mental health and prevention and intervention in the 1960s. Lindemann and Caplan are known as the fathers of crisis intervention (Kanel, 2007). The APA (2023) defined crisis as "the turning point for better or worse in the course of an illness" or a "situation (e.g., a traumatic change) that produces significant cognitive distress." These are consistent with a definition from Mackey (1968) as "the decisive moment or turning point." Furthermore, these definitions are also consistent with the *Crisis Intervention Handbook*, defining crisis as "a subjective reaction to a stressful experience affecting the ability of the individual to cope..." (Yeager, 2015, p. 13), as well as Mitchell's (2015) definition in CISM literature of "an acute emotional, cognitive, and physical reaction to a powerful, horrible, awful, terrifying, threatening, or grotesque stimulus or an overwhelming demand or circumstances" (p. 18). While there may be variations in the wording defining crisis, nearly all definitions are consistent with the fact that it is a turning point in which one can grow with immediate and purposeful intervention. A crisis can also be defined through its three distinct phases: "A precipitating event, a perception of the event that causes subjective distress, and the failure of a person's coping methods, which causes them to experience a lower level of functioning than the pre-traumatic event" (Kanel, 2007, p. 1).

Crisis Intervention

Crisis Intervention is the response to a crisis that can mitigate the impact and turn what could be a negative experience into the potential for growth. While education on stress management and healthy coping skills before experiencing a crisis would be preferred, crisis intervention should commonly occur in the subjective distress phase to aid the person in returning to their normal adaptive functioning (Kanel, 2007; Mitchell, 2015). There are numerous models, programs, and tactics for crisis intervention, CISM is only one. Gerald Caplan postulated in 1961 that a "relatively minor force, acting for a relatively short time, can switch the balance to one side or another, to the side of mental health or the side of mental ill health" (p. 248). Lydia Rapoport (1965) is famously quoted as saying, "A little help rationally directed and purposely focused at a strategic time, is more effective than extensive help given at a period of less emotional accessibility" (p. 38).

Nearly all crisis intervention literature, including that of CISM, is consistent with the basic principles a model or program must incorporate to be successful. Stemming from the principles Salmon created in 1917, the principles used in CISM are *simplicity*, *brevity*, *innovation*, *pragmatism*, *proximity*, *immediacy*, and *expectancy* (Crocq & Crocq, 2000; Mitchell, 2015). Interventions are for individuals or groups experiencing distress, impairment, and/or dysfunction (APA, 2008). Therefore, they must be inclusive of these principles to ensure they are simple to understand and respond to, short, creative, practical, occur close to the incident if possible, or in someone's comfort zone, as soon as possible after the incident, and setting reasonable expectations for positive outcomes.

Peer Support

Often differentiated from crisis intervention tactics such as CISM, peer support refers to a broader range of services offered to ESPs. These services typically include personal, financial, or work stressors, along with CISM at times (Donovan, 2022). The level of assistance a peer support team offers will depend on the team members' training. For example, to provide CISM interventions, one must have taken the required training and have mental health oversight, whereas to provide general guidance, support, and suggestions for further resources, one does not need any formal training (Donovan, 2022; Price et al., 2022). Donovan (2022) also argued that peer support can occur anytime, unlike CISM, where interventions are at specified times post-incident. Peer support is generally the "supportive relationship among peers who have similar lived experiences" and come from the same culture (Andrews et al., 2022; Price et al., 2022, p. 2).

In emergency services cultures, peer support may be perceived well by ESPs because of the informality and peer-to-peer contact versus supervisor support (Donovan, 2022; Shakespeare-Finch et al., 2015). Peers have been found to be more "relatable and authentic" and offer a supportive relationship without fear of retribution due to power differentials associated with supervisory roles (Anderson et al., 2020; Donovan, 2022; Fogarty et al., 2021, p. 5-6). Peer support has been found to influence AUD and overall barriers to treatment seeking among ESPs and serve as a protective factor (Price et al., 2022). Furthermore, peer support facilitates psychological safety, allowing peers to be authentic in return (Donovan, 2022; Price et al., 2022). Peer support has been found to have the highest impact on improving mental health overall (64.1%) among ESPs and

serves as a protective factor in preventing further mental health challenges (46.2%) in one study done by Andrews et al. (2022). Peer support in any form appears to be a crucial component of ESPs, and CISM is a peer-driven package of crisis intervention tactics addressing many of the areas above and may be an effective model in reducing stigma among the population (Andrews et al., 2022; Tessier et al., 2021).

Critical Incident Stress Management (CISM)

CISM is a program designed by Dr. Jeffery Mitchell throughout the 1970s and formally launched in 1983 to mitigate the acute stress reactions of critical incidents (Mitchell, 2015; Sacks et al., 2001; Sommer, 2013). CISM is also an acronym for comprehensive, integrative, systematic, and multi-component, and these components are demonstrated through the package of interventions offered in the pre-crisis, crisis, and post-crisis phases (Everly Jr. et al., 2000; Mitchell, 2015). The interventions provided in CISM are in two categories, informational and interactive. The informational interventions are crisis management briefings (CMB) and Rest, Information, and Transition Services (RITS). The interactive interventions are defusings and CISDs. Each of these interventions is designed with the same goals to facilitate recovery, restore normal adaptive functioning, and encourage effective coping (Mitchell, 2003). Through the comprehensive and integrative processes, CISM encompasses support from mental health professionals, clergy, and members of the respective ESP subgroups being intervened with. This allows the interventionists (peers) to provide intervention and assessment across the spectrum of well-being, including spiritual, emotional, cognitive, behavioral, and physical (Blaney, 2009).

The interventions and support functions are designed for individuals and groups, both homogeneous and heterogeneous. The crisis intervention tactics and supportive functions falling under CISM are pre-incident education, assessment, strategic planning, individual crisis intervention, informational groups, interactional groups, family intervention, pastoral intervention, and follow-ups and/or referrals (Mitchell, 2015). Mitchell noted that it is contraindicated for these intervention tactics, specifically CISDs, to be used as one-off interventions, but they should be used in concert with each other (Robinson, 2004; Tuckey & Scott, 2014). For example, a group of ESPs may experience a critical incident, to which prior they would have received pre-incident education, postincident they would have an immediate defusing or crisis management briefing (CMB). Several days later they would then have a CISD, concluded with the crisis interventionists providing follow-up care to people they deemed necessary and providing referrals to behavioral health clinicians when appropriate. This is consistent with the literature on crisis intervention recommending approximately four-six contacts (Kanel, 2007).

CISM emphasizes resistance, resilience, and recovery as core concepts and encompasses components before, during, and after critical incidents (Andrews et al., 2022; Mitchell, 2015; Price et al., 2022). This package of interventions, specifically CISDs, may be a beneficial tool in the elimination of stigma regarding mental health as they demonstrate and encourage the cohesiveness of units and communities and that people are not individually experiencing problems lessening the chance of dismissing resilience concepts (Crane et al., 2021). CISM may be seen as a reactive program when only using the reactive components, defusings and CISDs, but when used in a comprehensive, integrated, systematic, and multi-component package, pre-incident education is a foundational concept that may often be ignored (Andrews et al., 2022; O'Rourke & Hyland, 2021). Furthermore, informational interventions can be provided during and immediately after critical incidents to provide information on PTS reactions. O'Rourke and Hyland found that due to the open communication and social support offered in the CISM package, attitudes toward the interventions were positive, and responders found it beneficial. Similarly, Price et al. (2022) found that CISM was well perceived by ESPs and unaffected by demographics, such as years of service.

Price et al. (2022) also found that their use of coping skills obtained in CISM interventions was unaffected by demographics. Johnson et al. (2019) found that firefighters with more years of service were less likely to seek informal support over professional support; however, "68% of the study would not recommend behavioral health services to others" (p. 306). Firefighters in one study were also found to have the lowest levels of stigma and were the most likely to disclose their mental health challenges while experiencing less stigma (Bowers et al., 2022). This may indicate that if the results of this study are as hypothesized, targeting ESPs with more years of service and promoting the use of CISDs may reduce stigma. CISM also reduced the likelihood of screening positive for AUD and GAD, two common comorbid mental health conditions associated with trauma-related disorders (APA, 2022; Price et al., 2022).

Critical Incident Stress Debriefing (CISD)

Under the CISM model is a specific intervention tactic called Critical Incident Stress Debriefing. The CISD is a group intervention tactic known as the Mitchell Model designed for homogenous working groups who have spent time working together, have an established relationship, and/or have experienced the same incident(s) (Mitchell, 2015; Richards, 2001; Robinson, 2007). CISDs should typically occur three to five days postincident but no less than 24 hours unless there are extenuating circumstances, such as the incident being extremely traumatic. The process of a CISD is designed to take the participants from the cognitive to the affective and back to the cognitive domain through a seven-phase process of questions and prompts (Levenson, 2007). This provides several opportunities for the unit or team to restore cohesion, mitigate the impact of the traumatic incident, facilitate restoration to their normal adaptive functioning, and identify individuals requiring professional support (Everly Jr. et al., 2000; Mitchell, 2015). Furthermore, CISDs are an interactive process allowing individuals to talk to peers, which O'Rourke and Hyland (2021) and Blaney (2009) found to be the most effective means of stress management. Traumatic memories that are not processed will begin to construct themselves with whatever information they have, making the interactive portion crucial to the healing of ESPs (Martz & Lindy, 2010). While the process may resemble psychotherapy, CISDs are not psychotherapy or counseling and are designed to be a peerrun process with professional mental health support present for guidance and observation (Robinson, 2004).

Anderson et al. (2020) found CISDs were the most used intervention post-critical incident in a study of Canadian PSPs. In the same study, Anderson et al. found CISDs reduced alcohol consumption post-CI, which is consistent with Andrews et al. (2022). However, their study demonstrated that any mental health training was consistent with a reduction of AUD/SUD. Knowledge should be gained through training, which may reduce stigma (Krakauer et al., 2020). CISDs specifically were also found to be most effective for improving mental health, reducing stigma, increasing mental health knowledge, and responding to members of the public experiencing a mental health challenge (Andrews et al., 2022). CISDs alone also reduced positive screening for Major Depressive Disorder (MDD), a common comorbid mental health disorder with traumarelated diagnoses (APA, 2022). CISDs appear to be an established intervention that incorporates several components, including but not limited to camaraderie, normalizing, psychoeducation, and resources necessary to reduce the stigmatization of mental health challenges among ESPs (Donovan, 2022). CISDs have also been found to reduce the impact of acute PTS reactions when appropriate psychological resilience is implemented (Andrews et al., 2022; Boothroyd et al., 2019). Blaney (2009) found that CISDs were a helpful intervention to provide a cathartic environment and education in one setting.

Organizational Support

Organizations within the emergency services sub-culture(s) play a crucial role in promoting and maintaining the stigmatization of mental health help-seeking behaviors or being active in eliminating the stigma. Workplace stigma could create structural stigma on the macro level through system-level processes, being active in preventing organizational peer-based interventions (Horan et al., 2021; Braaten, 2018; Ricciardelli et al., 2020; Tessier et al., 2021). Structural stigma may be present when the well-being of a stigmatized population is occurring (Ricciardelli et al., 2020). Many emergency services agencies are developing internal peer support teams and electing to handle peer-to-peer interventions in-house (Price et al., 2022). However, this may be one of the stigmatizing factors acting as a barrier to ESPs help-seeking behaviors toward interventions like CISDs by the organizational structure not allowing outside help-seeking to be acceptable.

Any intervention held at an organization, whether general peer support or a structured CISD, will always work against the backdrop of that existing culture (Horan et al., 2021). For example, suppose the organization's overall culture stigmatizes mental health intervention, and two peer support team members offer an in-house CISD. In that case, the CISD may not be well attended due to the lack of support. Interventions are best held and most effective, practicing two of the basic principles: immediacy (early) and proximity (close) (Crocq & Crocq, 2000; Mitchell, 2015; Richins et al., 2020). A place of comfort and safety where basic needs can be met is essential to any crisis intervention tactic, which may be the organizational *home* the ESPs are from (Kanel, 2007; Tjin et al., 2022). Tjin et al. found that ESPs may prefer using organizational or peer support, but inadequate communication and disempowerment were two significant barriers. Organizational demonstration of support and commitment to prioritizing ESPs well-being may be an initial step in re-establishing effective communication.

Organizational support and endorsement are essential to the success of programs and may approve attendance for ESPs (Blaney, 2009; Kraffa & Tochkov, 2013; Tessier et

al., 2021). Furthermore, even minor logistical issues can deter an intervention from occurring because individuals experiencing a crisis do not have the distress capacity to overcome further hurdles (Brondolo et al., 2018; Richins et al., 2020). These types of logistical issues may be resolved by using an organization's station. Support from an organizational perspective also typically correlates to supervisory support, which is one of the most significant barriers ESPs perceive to help-seeking due to fear of career repercussions (Carleton et al., 2020). Brondolo et al. (2008) found that perception from employees lacking supervisory support could increase PTS reactions through negative cognitions about future potentially traumatic events. Allowing the organization to be used for interventions may be a step in demonstrating buy-in that the organization is committed to eliminating stigma and serving as a future protective factor among its ESPs (Horan et al., 2021; Jones et al., 2020; Tessier et al., 2021). In the future, a new circle of reinforcement may be created, positively encouraging the elimination of stigma through disclosure and intervention, fostering positivity and well-being (Krakauer et al., 2020; Wild et al., 2020).

Organizations may also consider viewing this from an economic perspective, especially considering that many ESP organizations are volunteer-based and/or funded by the taxpayers of local jurisdictions (Fahy et al., 2022). Andrews et al. (2022) found that PTS reactions could reduce performance among ESPs, creating a potential safety risk and an economic burden on the agency. Suppose an ESP is unable to perform their duties, whether it be due to physical or mental challenges. In that case, this poses significant risks and challenges that could be financially irresponsible if the challenges could be mitigated with early intervention (Richins et al., 2020). Furthermore, organizations should realize that the ESPs serving their communities are experiencing these traumatic events and potentially developing a moral injury on behalf of the organization (Brondolo et al., 2018). These disrupted cognitions could harm the organization and individual ESP that may dissipate or be reduced with support.

Social Support

A discussion on social support is warranted in culminating the concepts of ESP culture, mental health stigma, and how organizations factor into hindering or fostering cohesion and support. Social support appears to be first discussed specifically in the context of crisis work by Gerald Caplan in 1974. Caplan (1974) noted the importance of support for individuals experiencing a crisis. Barrera (1986) noted the types of diseases and social issues that social support was proven to affect, such as psychological distress. Barrera also emphasized the concept of perceived social support and that it may not be whether the support is or is not available but how others perceive it, similar to Carleton et al. (2020). Social support has also been found to be a protective factor against traumatic events (or a risk factor if absent), possibly acting as a buffer from the adverse effects (Cohen & Wills, 1985; Prati & Pietrantoni, 2010). ESPs are at a particularly advantageous or disadvantageous position in receiving and perceiving social support based on the organizational culture and how public stigma has potentially induced or reinforced self-stigma.

Social support promotes social connectedness among ESPs, aiding in normalizing traumatic events and reinforcing peer and unit cohesion (Hilbrink, 2022; Smirnova et al.,

2021). Cohesion among ESPs has been found to promote psychological health and act as a protective factor (Smirnova et al., 2021). Social support and connectedness also promote wellness, resilience, and post-traumatic growth among ESPs (Hilbrink, 2022; Donovan, 2022). Donovan (2022) noted the influence CISDs have on the concept of social support by reinforcing the camaraderie due to the peer-to-peer nature of the intervention. To achieve PTG, many factors typically are involved, such as social support, but another one is the positive use of coping skills. Social support is also linked to the increased use of healthy coping skills and positive reframing, which are commonly linked to avoidant coping strategies in PTS symptomology (Chen et al., 2022). Hilbrink (2022) found that a program emphasizing social connectedness among ESPs reduced traumatogenic reactions and, in some participants, mitigated PTSD symptomology completely. Overall, Hilbrink (2022) found that "97% of participants found an activity of social nature beneficial to their well-being" (p. 67).

Self-efficacy is another factor that social support has been found to increase (Karademas, 2006). An ESP's attitudes and beliefs toward resilience and whether they will or will not overcome a mental health challenge or challenges are directly related to their ability to do so (self-efficacy) (Crane et al., 2019). Self-efficacy is also found to be a factor in promoting PTG and, when coupled with social support, was able to predict PTG in 911 telecommunicators, which may be necessary given Donovan's (2022) finding that they may be at an increased need for social support (Shakespeare-Finch et al., 2015). This could be advantageous to ESPs considering the personality traits that make them excel at their professions, such as managing stress and being problem-focused, if social support

and connectedness are present as a base protective factor (Donovan, 2022). Given that CISDs incorporate peer-to-peer support, provide a cathartic environment, and work to restore unit cohesion through a supportive environment, they may be an optimal intervention for groups who have experienced a critical incident and to promote the elimination of stigma regarding mental health (Blaney, 2009; Mitchell, 2015).

Self-forgiveness is another trait that reduces stigma and increases help-seeking behaviors among ESPs (Carpenter et al., 2019). Self-forgiveness in the context of ESPs is the ability to regulate negative cognitions about a traumatic event in a nonpunitive manner and accept that the effort given was all that could be done. However, hallmark symptoms of PTSD are feelings of shame, disgrace, and negative cognitions, meaning the earlier an ESP is provided intervention and closure of the incident is facilitated, the better chance for a positive outcome (APA, 2022; Richins et al., 2020). Hirsch et al. (2011) found self-forgiveness to be associated with decreased rates of depression, a common mental health challenge among ESPs. Boothroyd et al. (2018) noted that ESPs found selfforgiveness to be one of the most important coping mechanisms for processing their trauma. CISDs may be part of a multi-component approach in alleviating or mitigating different symptomology they are at risk for if provided the opportunity (Mitchell, 2015; O'Rourke, 2021).

Trauma Membrane

When someone is physically injured in a traumatic way, such as a fall, the injured area and surrounding tissue become swollen in an effort to protect the damaged tissue (Martz & Lindy, 2010). Lindy (1985) suggested a similar ideology through the trauma

membrane concept. Lindy stated that a trauma membrane might develop around individuals or communities who experienced traumatic stress, allowing the healing process to begin as a psychological barrier (Martz & Lindy, 2010). It was suggested that individual survivors would form a trauma membrane, but if there was a group of survivors who experienced the same trauma and had a close relationship, such as ESPs, then an interpersonal trauma membrane would be formed. Lindy went on to describe that similar to a physical wound, the metaphorical concept of the trauma membrane is that as it heals from the inside out, the wound will reduce in size. CISDs could be viewed as a rehabilitative intervention that can aid in forming a trauma membrane (Martz & Lindy, 2010). The formation may allow the human factor to heal physically and psychologically.

The trauma membrane concept is particularly interesting among ESPs because of the complexity of their critical incident experience. Terr (1991) proposed several types of traumatic stress responses: trauma after one-time unanticipated events, traumatic reactions after long-term exposures, and crossover traumas (sudden events causing disability). Martz and Lindy (2010) focused on the last two, which are also the ones ESPs appear most prone to encounter. ESPs are repeatedly exposed to traumatic events, which may be one-time events; however, frequency and exposure to traumatic events have been found to increase traumatogenic reactions (Anderson et al., 2020; Krakauer et al., 2020; Sanatkar et al., 2022). Furthermore, numerous researchers note the increased risk of ESPs developing SUD, MDD, and PTSD due to their duties (Anderson et al., 2020; Sanatkar et al., 2022). Each is recognized as a disability under the DSM 5 Text Revision (DSM-5-TR) (APA, 2022). The trauma membrane concept is highly relevant to ESPs and may play an essential role in their recovery and how stigma and a lack of help-seeking behaviors hinder that.

Harvey (1996) discussed how each person's recovery from a traumatic event is unique given that each individual is complex and determined by the person, event, and environmental factors. While this is an ecological theoretical foundation, it supports the Person-in-Environment theoretical foundation of this research in that ESPs are affected by the stigma surrounding their culture and, in turn, appear to further reinforce the stigma (Ricciardelli et al., 2020). With the trauma membrane concept, people will decide who to emotionally let in and not let in following a traumatic event (Martz & Lindy, 2010). Immediately following a traumatic event, individuals who are experiencing critical incident stress will likely not be able to process the events because they are emotionally dysregulated (APA, 2022; Martz & Lindy, 2010). Regarding Martz and Lindy's (2010) discussion on civilian populations, ego, and vulnerability and how it affects who crosses the trauma membrane, this concept is more complex in ESPs due to the culture of strength and self-reliance that has been established in previous sections (Bowers et al., 2022). Lastly, Martz and Lindy (2010) discussed the two types of disasters and how they may determine the strength of the trauma membrane. Centrifugal is localized destruction and may result in a weakened trauma membrane, whereas centripetal is more extensive destruction bringing more cohesiveness, typically due to having to recover in the community that was destroyed. ESPs typically respond to isolated incidents temporarily, then return *home*, indicating they may not form strong trauma membranes.

Mental Health Disorders

Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder

Posttraumatic Stress Disorder has become a common-place term in emergency services due to the increased risk of ESPs developing it (APA, 2022; Sanatkar et al., 2022). PTSD is a diagnosis that affects the lower, mid, and higher brains, deeply embedding it into the brain and body (Boothroyd et al., 2018; Bremner, 2006; Van der Kolk, 2014). Pending the severity of one's PTSD, this could potentially affect nearly all or many aspects of an ESP's life. The base concept in the formation of PTSD is the violation of a perception or belief that someone holds (Park et al., 2012). This is commonly a strong belief, and when said belief is violated, the symptomology ensues with negative cognitions. Common symptoms of PTSD include but are not limited to nightmares, anxiety, panic attacks, depression, substance use, memory impairment, isolation, flat affect, irritability, dissociation, intrusive thoughts, and avoidance (APA, 2022). These symptoms, along with many others, may affect the performance of ESPs in their duties, increasing the risk of developing concurrent comorbid behavioral health disorders.

PTSD is a complex diagnosis that has several criteria that need to be met for diagnosis. While the DSM-5-TR includes criteria for all ages and persons, this criterion will specify what ESPs need to be diagnosed. The recognized criteria for diagnosing ESPs with PTSD according to the DSM-5-TR (APA, 2022, p. 301-303):

A. Exposure to actual or threatened death, serious injury, or sexual violence in (or more) of the following ways:

- 1. Directly experiencing the traumatic event(s).
- 2. Witnessing, in person, the event(s) as it occurred to others.
- 3. Learning that the traumatic event(s) occurred to a close family member or friend. In cases of actual or threatened death of a family member or friend, the event(s) must have been violent or accidental.
- Experiencing repeated or extreme exposure to aversive details of the traumatic event(s) (e.g., first responders collecting human remains; police officers repeatedly exposed to details of child abuse.)
- B. Presence of one (or more) of the following intrusion symptoms associated with the traumatic event(s), beginning after the traumatic event(s) occurred:
 - Recurrent, involuntary, and intrusive distressing memories of the traumatic event(s).
 - Recurrent distressing dreams in which the content and/or effect of the dream are related to the traumatic event(s).
 - 3. Dissociative reactions (e.g., flashbacks) in which the individual feels or acts as if the traumatic event(s) were recurring. (Such reactions may occur on a continuum, with the most extreme expression being a complete loss of awareness and present surroundings.)
 - Intense or prolong psychological distress at exposure to internal or external cues that symbolize or resemble an aspect of the traumatic event(s).

- 5. Marked physiological reactions to internal or external cues that symbolize or resemble an aspect of the traumatic event(s).
- C. Persistent avoidance of stimuli associated with the traumatic event(s),beginning after the traumatic event(s) occurred, as evidenced by one or both of the following:
 - Avoidance of or efforts to avoid distressing memories, thoughts, or feelings about or closely related with the traumatic event(s).
 - 2. Avoidance of or efforts to avoid external reminders (people, places, conversations, activities, objects, situations) that arouse distressing memories, thoughts, or feelings about or closely associated with the traumatic event(s).
- D. Negative alterations in cognitions and mood associated with the traumatic event(s), beginning or worsening after the traumatic event(s) occurred, as evidenced by two (or more) of the following:
 - Inability to remember and important aspect of the traumatic event(s) (typically due to dissociative amnesia and not to other factors such as head injury, alcohol, or drugs.)
 - Persistent and exaggerated negative beliefs or expectations about oneself, others, or the world (e.g., "I am bad," "No one can be trusted," The world is completely dangerous," "My whole nervous system is permanently ruined").

- Persistent distorted cognitions about the cause or consequences of the traumatic event(s) that lead the individual to blame himself/herself or others.
- 4. Persistent negative emotional state (e.g., fear, horror, anger, guilt, or shame).
- 5. Markedly diminished interest or participation in significant activities.
- 6. Feelings of detachment or estrangement from others.
- Persistent inability to experience positive emotions (e.g., inability to experience happiness, satisfaction, or loving feelings).
- E. Marked alterations in arousal and reactivity associated with the traumatic event(s), beginning or worsening after the traumatic event(s) occurred, as evidenced by two (or more) of the following:
 - Irritable behavior and angry outbursts (with little or no provocation) typically expressed as verbal or physical aggression toward people or objects.
 - 2. Reckless or self-destructive behavior.
 - 3. Hypervigilance.
 - 4. Exaggerated startle response.
 - 5. Problems with concentration.
 - Sleep disturbance (e.g., difficulty falling asleep or staying asleep or restless sleep).
- F. Duration of the disturbance (Criteria B, C, D, and E) is more than 1 month.

- G. The disturbance causes clinically significant distress or impairment in social, occupational, or other important areas of functioning.
- H. The disturbance is not attributable to the physiological effects of a substance (e.g., medical, alcohol) or another medical condition.

Acute Stress Disorder

Acute Stress Disorder is similar to PTSD but more acutely diagnosed within three days to one month (APA, 2022). Due to the nature of the work ESPs endure and the frequency of exposure and intensity, ESPs may be at an increased risk for developing personal and professional disruptions, which may manifest as traumatic stress (Boothroyd et al., 2018; Fogarty et al., 2021; Lanza et al., 2018; Price et al., 2022). While not a prerequisite for PTSD, ASD symptoms may be visible in the days or weeks following a traumatic exposure allowing for more immediate intervention, increasing the likelihood and success of recovery (APA, 2022). Cahill and Pontoski (2005) found that "77.8% of participants in a study who met full ASD diagnostic criteria met full PTSD criteria at follow-up." More recently, Li et al. (2021) also confirmed that ASD can predict the likelihood of PTSD and severity. While the diagnostic criteria are similar, they are clustered differently under ASD. For example, under section B, one must experience nine or more symptoms, whereas, under PTSD diagnostic criteria, the clusters are more individualized. To be diagnosed with ASD, the following criteria must be met by an ESP (APA, 2022, p. 314-316):

A. Exposure to actual or threatened death, serious injury, or sexual violence in (or more) of the following ways:

- 1. Directly experiencing the traumatic event(s).
- 2. Witnessing, in person, the event(s) as it occurred to others.
- 3. Learning that the traumatic event(s) occurred to a close family member or friend. In cases of actual or threatened death of a family member or friend, the event(s) must have been violent or accidental.
- Experiencing repeated or extreme exposure to aversive details of the traumatic event(s) (e.g., first responders collecting human remains; police officers repeatedly exposed to details of child abuse).
- B. Presence of nine (or more) of the following symptoms from any of the five categories of intrusion, negative mood, dissociation, avoidance, and arousal, beginning or worsening after the traumatic event(s) occurred:

Intrusion Symptoms

- Recurrent, involuntary, and intrusive distressing memories of the traumatic event(s).
- Recurrent distressing dreams in which the content and/or effect of the dream are related to the event(s).
- 3. Dissociative reactions (e.g., flashbacks) in which the individual feels or acts as if the traumatic event(s) were recurring. (Such reactions may occur on a continuum, with the most extreme expression being a complete loss of awareness and present surroundings).

 Intense or prolong psychological distress at exposure to internal or external cues that symbolize or resemble an aspect of the traumatic event(s).

Negative Mood

5. Persistent inability to experience positive emotions (e.g., inability to experience happiness, satisfaction, or loving feelings).

Dissociative Symptoms

- An altered sense of reality of one's surroundings or oneself (e.g., seeing oneself from another perspective, being in a daze, time slowing).
- Inability to remember and important aspect of the traumatic event(s) (typically due to dissociative amnesia and not to other factors such as head injury, alcohol, or drugs).

Avoidance Symptoms

- Efforts to avoid distressing memories, thoughts, or feelings about or closely associated with the traumatic event(s).
- Efforts to avoid external reminders (people, places, conversations, activities, objects, situations) that arouse distressing memories, thoughts, or feelings about or closely associated with the traumatic event(s).

Arousal Symptoms

- 10. Sleep disturbance (e.g., difficulty falling asleep or staying asleep or restless sleep).
- Irritable behavior and angry outbursts (with little or no provocation) typically expressed as verbal or physical aggression toward people or objects.
- 12. Hypervigilance.
- 13. Problems with concentration.
- 14. Exaggerated startle response.
- C. Duration of the disturbance (symptoms in Criterion B) is 3 days to 1 month after trauma exposure.
- D. The disturbance causes clinically significant distress or impairment in social, occupational, or other important areas of functioning.
- E. The disturbance is not attributable to the physiological effects of a substance (e.g., medication or alcohol) or another medical condition (e.g., mild traumatic brain injury) and is not better explained by a brief psychotic disorder.

Major Depressive Disorder

MDD is a depressive disorder found to be highly prevalent among ESPs (Anderson et al., 2020, APA, 2022; Carson et al., 2022; Price et al., 2022). The DSM-5-TR diagnostic criterion for diagnosing MDD is based on experiencing five or more of the listed symptoms within a two-week period (APA, 2022). Some of those symptoms are depressed mood, lack of interest and pleasure, significant weight loss, and feelings of worthlessness. ESPs are at an increased risk of MDD due to the traumatic experiences they are exposed to and the increased rate of dual diagnoses (comorbidity) with PTSD, of which it has been established that ESPs are at increased risk (APA, 2022). Furthermore, MDD is a risk factor for suicidality among ESPs, possibly more so those working in isolation, such as telecommunicators and MDIs (Brondolo et al., 2018; Flannery & Greenhalgh, 2018; Tiesman et al., 2021).

Generalized Anxiety Disorder

The diagnosis of anxiety has numerous sub-diagnoses, but for the context of this research with ESPs, GAD is used in isolation. GAD is characterized in the DSM-5-TR by "excessive anxiety and worry" (APA, 2022, p. 250-251). The diagnostic criterion for GAD is the previous symptom, the inability or difficulty in controlling the worry, and three or more out of a cluster of symptoms such as restlessness, irritability, or sleep disturbances. The criterion also states that the anxiety must cause clinically significant impairment and not be attributed to another more appropriate diagnosis or other factors (e.g., alcohol or medication). Due to the increased frequency of exposure established in this literature review, ESPs are at an increased risk of developing GAD. Along with other mental health disorders in this research, GAD is a comorbid diagnosis of PTSD and MDD (APA, 2022).

Substance Use Disorder & Alcohol Use Disorder

ESPs are found to be at an increased risk for SUD and/or AUD (Anderson et al., 2020; Carleton et al., 2020; Price et al., 2022). This may commonly be due to initial use for coping with exposure to traumatic events as a maladaptive coping mechanism (Fogarty et al., 2021; Price et al., 2022). SUD is largely identified and diagnosed by the

"cognitive, behavioral, and psychological symptoms indicating the individual continues to use the substance despite related problems" (APA, 2022, p. 545). Other criteria exist as clusters of symptoms, similar to the diagnostic criteria of PTSD. Some of those criteria include social impairment, lack of impulse control, increased risk-taking, using the substance more than intended, seeking the substance out or craving the substance, and feelings of an intense urge to use. The criterion for diagnosing AUD is similar to SUD, but in the fact that it is only alcohol versus all substances (APA, 2022). SUD and/or AUD are common comorbid conditions to trauma-related diagnoses, MDD, and GAD, with people experiencing PTSD likely to experience one or more of the others (APA, 2022). Furthermore, Carson et al. (2022) found that ESPs were more likely to have a higher level of substances in their body at the time of suicidal death. This could further prove that substance abuse is a predictive factor for suicidality among ESPs.

Suicidality

Suicidality presents a growing concern among ESPs, given that the literature supports the increasing risk they face of being repeatedly exposed to critical incidents and developing traumatogenic reactions, such as PTSD, which have been proven to be comorbid conditions with MDD, GAD, and SUD/AUD (APA, 2022; Carson et al., 2022; Stanley et al., 2016). These mental health diagnoses are also comorbid conditions to suicidality (APA, 2022). The prevalence rate of suicidality among EMS clinicians in one study was found to be 24.5%, with other studies indicating the rates of suicidal ideations may be as "high as 41% among ESPs" (Carleton et al., 2018; Renkiewicz et al., 2022, p. 5). Carson et al. (2022) found over half (58%) of the suicides in their study to be LEOs, "18% were firefighters, and 2% were 911 telecommunicators" (p. 4). Suicidality typically consists of three components known as the Interpersonal Theory of Suicide, being thwarted belongingness, perceived sense of burdensomeness, and the capability to carry out the ideation (Ahmadboukani et al., 2022; Chu et al., 2017; Van Orden et al., 2010). The theory postulates that the ability to carry out the act of suicide happens habitually, which is concerning for ESPs given their relatively easy access to lethal means (e.g., firearms for law enforcement, which is the most common means, and desensitization overtime to injury and death commonly witnessed, whether directly or vicariously by all subgroups (Carson et al., 2022; Stanley et al., 2023). Furthermore, through their increasing exposure to critical incidents and the severity of their traumatogenic reactions and accumulation of mental health diagnoses, the risk factors for suicidality may increase given the symptoms of many or all the diagnoses are isolation, substance use, panic, and negative cognitions (Brondolo et al., 2018).

Summary and Conclusions

ESPs are at an elevated risk of experiencing critical incidents due to the dangerous and emotionally disturbing nature of their work in times of trauma (Bowers et al., 2022; Haugen et al., 2017; Price et al., 2022). This increased risk of exposure increases their risk of developing traumatogenic reactions such as acute PTS reactions, which can, in turn, develop into mental health disorders (Anderson et al., 2020; Boothroyd et al., 2019; Lanza et al., 2018). These traumatogenic reactions are best mitigated with early crisis intervention techniques when the ESPs coping mechanisms are not working as normal (Kanel, 2007). With effective crisis intervention applied at a

proper time, ESPs may experience PTG versus PTS reactions. These positive reactions and outcomes can be encouraged and facilitated through resilience, self-efficacy, selfforgiveness, and social support.

CISM is a crisis intervention program that has proven to be effective, particularly among ESPs (Andrews et al., 2022). CISDs, a tactic under the CISM umbrella, is a group tactic that is highly effective with ESPs and promotes natural concepts needed to act as protective factors and recovery, such as restoring unit cohesion, camaraderie, social support, resilience, and psychoeducation. Furthermore, these interventions are peer-run and found to be safe, relatable, and beneficial from other ESPs (Andrews et al., 2022; Donovan, 2022; Krakauer et al., 2020). CISM and CISDs were also found to reduce and/or mitigate the symptoms of PTSD, ASD, GAD, MDD, and SUD/AUD in ESPs. CISDs have also effectively reduced stigma among ESPs, the most significant barrier in the culture of help-seeking behaviors (Andrews et al., 2022).

In emergency services culture, two types of stigmas are prevalent, public stigma, which leads to self-stigma and, in turn, creates a concept of label avoidance within the ESPs. A lack of social support, organizational support, and perceived weakness all factor into the stigma that acts as a barrier to help-seeking for ESPs (Ricciardelli et al., 2020). These personnel then experience higher rates of mental health challenges than the general public when they are also at an increased risk. Implementing, supporting, and normalizing programs such as CISM and utilizing the intervention tactics such as CISDs may be an initial step to eliminating stigma among ESPs and breaking the circle of negative reinforcement.

Chapter 3: Research Method

The purpose of this quantitative, cross-sectional study was to examine how the presence of stigma in ESPs (LEOs, firefighters, EMS clinicians, 911 telecommunicators, and MDIs) and the number of years spent in emergency services predict attendance at CISDs. Mental health stigma has been proven to be a significant barrier to ESPs seeking mental health treatment or intervention, leading to an increase in behavioral health challenges (APA, 2022; Brondolo et al., 2018; Jones et al., 2020; Newell et al., 2022). The years an ESP has spent in emergency services were examined to determine if there is a relationship between stigma and attending a CISD. While found to be insignificant, more educational efforts may still be effective in continuing to eliminate the stigma surrounding help-seeking behaviors among ESPs after they experience a traumatic event. A description of the research design and methodology and how it pertains to the current research question and purpose is provided. This chapter will also provide information on instrumentation, data collection and analysis, threats to validity, and ethical procedures.

Research Design and Rationale

The variables examined in this study were mental health stigma (X_1) (continuous) and the number of years spent in emergency services (X_2) (continuous), which are independent variables, and attendance at CISDs (*Y*) (categorical or dichotomous), which is the dependent/outcome variable. This research used a cross-sectional design with survey methodology. A cross-sectional design was warranted since this research intended to gather participant data at a single point in time (Babbie, 2016). Cross-sectional designs are also typically low-cost and manageable for a graduate student researcher to conduct, creating a snapshot for potential future research (Wang & Cheng, 2020). Furthermore, cross-sectional designs with survey methodology allow the researcher to observe and compare the population again at a different point in time.

The survey aimed to establish if stigmatization affects an ESP's help-seeking behaviors by not attending a CISD and if years of service is a factor. The survey was conducted anonymously, and participants were not asked to disclose any identifying information. Anonymous surveys have promoted greater disclosure of sensitive topics such as mental health stigma and attending mental health interventions (Murdoch et al., 2014). The survey consisted of the Self-Stigma of Seeking Help Scale (SSOSH) (Appendix B) and was distributed online through emergency services websites, social media, forums, or other applicable places where ESPs could access it.

Methodology

A quantitative methodology was used for this research. Burkholder et al. (2020) indicated that quantitative research is used when a researcher wants to understand a behavior using statistical analysis. Quantitative research is also intended to be generalizable to a larger population than the studied sample (Yilmaz, 2013). Given that this research studied how stigma and years of service among ESPs affect the behavior of attending a CISD through a representative sample, then inferring generalizations, a quantitative methodology was appropriate. The purpose and applicability of using a quantitative methodology in this research was to generalize the data obtained to eliminate the barrier of help-seeking to CISDs and other mental health interventions among ESPs.

Target Population

The target population of this study included the following ESPs: LEOs, EMS clinicians, firefighters, 911 telecommunicators, and MDIs. Qualifying LEOs were those with the authority to enforce laws, arrest, and carry a firearm in performing their duties. EMS clinicians and firefighters were certified and/or licensed as such, and 911 telecommunicators and MDIs were those currently working in those respective roles. Participants could have been employed or volunteered for multiple ESP roles. No minimum experience was required, and a representative sample of the United States was warranted from all subgroups. Given that ESPs are required to be at least 18 years old, this study did not include minors.

Sampling Procedures

This study was restricted to ESPs in the identified subgroups who were 18 or older. Given the national scope of this study and the different subgroups of ESPs included, simple random sampling was appropriate and allowed for more accurate population estimation in the study (Frankfort-Nachmias et al., 2020). Probability sampling may have also reduced the risk of bias, given that there was no opportunity to choose participants (Burkholder et al., 2020). Furthermore, this was a cost and time-effective way to gather the data while yielding an adequate sample size (Drosdick-Sigafoos, 2022). A minimum sample size of 149 was needed for generalizability using G*Power calculations. The following parameters were used for the G*Power calculation: alpha (a) = 0.05 and power = 0.80.

Websites, forums, and social media sites that agreed or were accessible published a link to the survey with open access for members and visitors to complete. Due to ethical concerns, no personal invitations were sent to anyone to complete the survey. Participation was voluntary, with expressed consent obtained before accessing the survey questions. Participants had to identify whether they met the criteria to complete the survey with three pre-screening questions. The survey was available for 30 days and terminated by the closure of the survey link, ending data collection.

Recruitment

Recruitment was done by contacting identified organizations that regularly disseminate information to ESPs through online portals, such as JEMS, ABMDI, and FireHouse, to determine if they would post the survey on their website. An email was sent to multiple organizations soliciting approval. Other avenues for recruitment were through personal contacts and social media. The survey was created and disseminated using SurveyMonkey. Using SurveyMonkey allowed for more confidentiality and anonymity for the participants and more accurate and faster data collection for the researcher (Wyatt, 2000). There was a description of the survey at the beginning and a consent statement that the participant must have acknowledged to continue, serving as informed consent. Furthermore, the inclusion criteria identified in the Target Population section were clearly stated in the survey.

After the participants completed the survey, they saw a 'Thank You' message and exited or navigated away from the survey page. While I did not have the ability to verify, participants must have self-affirmed their eligibility for participation. Many of the organizations through which the survey was disseminated also require membership with verification of employment or status, and therefore other outside factors may have aided in the inclusion process. During recruitment, it was made clear that the survey was anonymous, and any identifying data would not be collected.

Data Collection

The survey was launched for a 30-day timeframe after receiving approval from Walden's Institutional Review Board (IRB). The web-based survey hosted on SurveyMonkey collected the participants' responses. Once a participant clicked on the link to the survey, the informed consent consisting of the risks, inclusion criteria, and agreeing to their willingness to complete the survey loaded onto the page. Once the participants agreed, they had the opportunity to complete the survey. After the participants completed the survey, they were thanked for participating. If the participants withdrew or exited the survey before submission, the link closed out with no repercussions to the individual.

Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs

Demographic Form

Participants completed a 12-question demographic form (Appendix C). This form consisted of three pre-screening questions ensuring that participants met the requirements to complete the survey, such as age, confirmation of being an emergency services professional, and whether they worked in the United States. These were followed by eight demographic questions related to gender, ethnicity, years of education, what discipline of emergency services they represented, what region they worked in, how many years they had been in emergency services, and in what capacity they served (e.g., full-time, volunteer), and ended with the final question to determine if they would attend a CISD after they experienced a traumatic event (Yes or No).

Self-Stigma of Seeking Help Scale (SSOSH)

The data for this study was collected via a web-based survey on SurveyMonkey using the SSOSH scale. The SSOSH scale is a 10-item scale designed by Vogel et al. (2006). The score a participant receives on the scale is averaged, and higher scores correlate to higher levels of perceived stigma an ESP may be experiencing to seeking psychological help. Since stigma was an independent variable being measured, a valid and reliable stigma scale was warranted, and the SSOSH scale was appropriate. The SSOSH has been established as valid and reliable (.91) and cross-validated with reliable test-retest scores.

The SSOSH scale has been used successfully with ESPs in the past (Leary, 2021). Leary established validity and reliability of the study by setting the alpha to p < .05 and exporting data directly into SPSS from SurveyMonkey, reducing the potential for error (Frankfort-Nachimas et al., 2020). Furthermore, Vidales et al. (2023) note that the scale has been cited over 1,400 times and is the most widely used measure for the stigma of help-seeking behaviors. The SSOSH scale was posted online with a statement expressing its open accessibility to the public (see Appendix A).

Years of Service

The second independent variable in this study was years of service to examine if how long ESPs serve impacted stigma and their willingness or tendency to attend a CISD. Years of service was a continuous variable that was coded as a ratio variable to categorize and rank the data (Warner, 2012). As noted throughout this research, ESPs are at an increased risk of experiencing traumatic events and developing traumatogenic reactions (Anderson et al., 2020; Horan et al., 2021; Krakauer et al., 2020). Lopedito (2021) noted that "law enforcement officers may be exposed to 180% more critical incidents than the average person over a 30-year career." With levels of stigma remaining the same or rising, years of service was a crucial variable to evaluate to determine if CISDs are attended more or less throughout the ranks (Burzee et al., 2022; Drew & Martin, 2020; Johnson et al., 2020; O'Toole et al., 2022). This variable was one of many options to examine and did not hold significance when combined with stigma. However, unique data such as differences, general differences among subgroups, and geographical regions and years of service was still obtained from the demographic information that may be useful to future researchers. (Salkind & Frey, 2020).

Attendance at Critical Incident Stress Debriefings

Attendance at CISDs was the dependent variable for this study. The variable was measured as a categorical binomial answer of "Yes" or "No." This was appropriate given that this research was attempting to determine an outcome at a single point in time with logistic regression (Babbie, 2016; Zach, 2020b).

Data Analysis Plan

Data from the web-based survey was downloaded into the current version of the IBM Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) from SurveyMonkey. The data were screened to ensure accuracy. SPSS software was then used to gather descriptive statistics and then run a multiple logistic regression analysis of the data to address the research question. To prevent missing data and incomplete surveys, all fields were marked as required, and if submitted without completing each field, the participant received an error message with the incomplete portion highlighted (Mirzaei et al., 2022). The participants still had the ability to exit the survey via the browser at any time with no repercussions. This was a crucial step, as missing data can negatively impact the sample size and potentially create biasing effects (Wirtz, 2004).

Logistic regression was appropriate for analyzing this data since the study intended to predict an outcome (Penn State, 2018b; Warner, 2012). Having two predictor variables and one binary outcome variable, multiple logistic regression was warranted and allowed for generalizations of the data across the ESP population. The probability was analyzed using the odds ratio of the data and comparing pre- and post-models and allowing the variables to be analyzed for which, or if both, impacted the dependent variable significantly (Penn State, 2018b). Considering that the predictor variables were not significant in this study, future regression research could focus on different variables to evaluate what factors are significant barriers.

Data Cleaning & Assumption

Utilizing a paid subscription to SurveyMonkey, the survey results were downloaded directly into the current version of SPSS for data analysis. After the results were downloaded, the data was reviewed for missing data and errors. Logistic regression research comes with six assumptions which are that the response variable is binary, the observations are independent, there is no multicollinearity among the explanatory variables, there are no extreme outliers, there is a linear relationship between explanatory variables, and the logit of the response variable, and the sample size is sufficiently large (Zach, 2020a). These assumptions were addressed in several ways throughout this study.

In this research, the dependent variable of "Would you attend a CISD?", was binary with a "Would attend" or "Would not attend" answer on the survey. The independence of the test was verified by considering the z-score in the results (Peng et al., 2002). Multicollinearity has been assessed by examining the Variance Inflation Factor (VIF) to determine the strength of the relationship (Penn State, 2018a; Schreiber-Gregory, 2018). This was assessed through the scatter plots when the data is analyzed. Cooks D was used to evaluate for outliers by determining how high the value is (Schreiber-Gregory, 2018). Linearity was assessed through the scatterplot, and the sample size has been predicted through G*Power.

Research Question and Hypothesis

- RQ1: How does the presence of stigma in ESPs (LEOs, firefighters, EMS clinicians, 911 telecommunicators, and MDIs) and the number of years spent in emergency services predict attendance at critical incident stress debriefings?
- H₀: β1=β2: Stigma and years spent in emergency services have no relationship on attendance at critical incident stress debriefings.
- H_a: β1≠β2: Stigma and years spent in emergency services have a relationship on attendance at critical incident stress debriefings.

Threats to Validity

External Validity

A correlation design was selected to understand the relationship between the naturally occurring variables; however, each research design comes with their flaws and this one could have posed a problem to the external validity, given that they cannot provide information about the direction of the relationship (Burkholder et al., 2020). Furthermore, a national study was warranted, but simple random sampling may have threatened the context-dependent mediation since ESPs were in various situations and environments throughout the U.S. when they completed the survey. ESPs may have felt the survey was mundane and that no change would occur from completing it or answering the questions honestly (Losh, 2017). The participants may have also suffered from reactivity, altering their answers because they knew they were being studied. The answers to the survey could have been affected by where they were completing them (e.g., at a fire station or in their own home) as well (Burkholder et al., 2020). Lastly, a threat to the external validity of quantitative designs is the assumptions of generalizability about the interactions observed and inferring causal relationships across the rest of the population.

Internal Validity

This research study contained numerous potential threats to internal validity from several categories. Burkholder et al. (2020) defined nine categories of internal validity which are history, maturation, testing, instrumentation, statistical regression researcher bias, selection, overall mortality, and differential mortality. This study includes threats in the history, testing, statistical regression, researcher bias, and selection categories. Using a cross-sectional design, this research tested the participants at a single point in time that was uncontrolled and could in itself have affected their responses if they endured a traumatic event just prior or experienced a stigmatizing factor affecting the history. Testing could have been affected if participants had taken numerous surveys, especially correlating to mental health, and thought of the answers as mundane (Losh, 2017).

Statistical regression may have been an internal threat because the personality characteristics and moods of the participants cannot be verified or determined when they complete the survey. If an ESP was usually experiencing PTS symptoms and did not exhibit help-seeking behaviors but completed the survey on a day when they were less impacted, the results could be skewed (Burkholder et al., 2020). The researcher in this study had significant experience in emergency services and crisis intervention, specifically providing CISM interventions to ESPs experiencing first-hand the stigma that occurs. This could pose a potential threat if not continually assessed. Selection is a final threat that was considered in this research due to the web-based survey nature. Participants completed the survey voluntarily and were able to cease participation at any time (Losh, 2017).

Ethical Procedures

In order to proceed with collecting data from human participants, IRB approval was obtained. Recruitment for participants was conducted via an online web-based survey on websites ESPs may have frequented. The survey was anonymous and voluntary, with no participant-specific identifying information obtained. The participants were able to self-select whether they completed the survey in its entirety, ended early, or truthfully answered questions with no repercussions (Losh, 2017). The survey responses were hosted on SurveyMonkey, a third-party vendor with data collection and privacy policies. All data was kept on a personal computer and has been and will continue to be password-protected and destroyed after its intended use. All data collected will be kept secure for the required time set by Walden University. The only people with access to the data are and will continue to be those involved with the study's research.

As stated, the researcher has specific experience in emergency services and crisis intervention providing CISM interventions. This could be viewed as an ethical issue; however, the researcher had no contact with the participants. This allowed the participants to exercise their full discretion of whether or not they completed the survey without outside bias. Furthermore, anonymity can increase the validity of responses when using survey methodology (Murdoch et al., 2014).

Summary

This quantitative, cross-sectional study examined to what extent mental health stigma and years spent in emergency services affected attendance at CISDs. Data was collected via an online web-based survey hosted on SurveyMonkey. After the data was collected, it was transferred from SurveyMonkey to SPSS, and multiple logistic regression analyses were conducted to determine the statistical relationship between the variables. The data was collected from the identified subgroups of ESPs in the U.S. IRB approval from Walden University was obtained prior to conducting any research. The researcher was responsible for all ethical, confidentiality, and research policies. Chapter 4 presents the results of the collected data and analyses for future research directions and implications.

Chapter 4: Results

The purpose of the quantitative, cross-sectional study was to examine how the presence of stigma in ESPs (LEOs, firefighters, EMS clinicians, 911 telecommunicators, and MDIs) and the number of years spent in emergency services predict attendance at CISDs. The IVs used for this research were stigma and years of service. Stigma was measured with the SSOSH scale, and years of service were measured categorically on via survey with six range options to choose from. The dependent variable for this study was would ESPs attend a CISD, measured binomially as "Would attend" or "Would not attend". A logistic regression was conducted to answer the following research question and hypotheses.

RQ: How does the presence of stigma in ESPs (LEOs, firefighters, EMS clinicians, 911 telecommunicators, and MDIs) and the number of years spent in emergency services predict attendance at critical incident stress debriefings?

H₀: $\beta 1=\beta 2$: Stigma and years spent in emergency services have no relationship on attendance at critical incident stress debriefings.

H_a: $\beta 1 \neq \beta 2$: Stigma and years spent in emergency services have a relationship on attendance at critical incident stress debriefings.

Chapter 4 includes information on data collection, results, statistical assumptions, a summary of the data, and transition to Chapter 5. Tables and figures of the data output are also included to visualize the research results.

Data Collection

The IRB granted approval to begin collecting data on August 18, 2023 (approval number 08-18-23-0748376), expiring on August 17, 2024. Upon receiving IRB approval, the survey invitation and link created on SurveyMonkey were disseminated beginning on August 31, 2023. The survey was disseminated via social media and online organizations relevant to emergency services personnel, including but not limited to the JEMS, FireHouse, LinkedIn, ABMDI, and personal connections throughout the United States. Data was collected from the intended emergency services subgroups identified in this research.

Data Analysis

A binary logistic regression analysis was used to predict whether stigma and years spent in emergency services could predict attendance at CISDs. Using logistic regression allowed the researcher to determine the probability of attendance at CISDs (0 = Would not attend and 1 = Would attend).

The data was collected via an anonymous survey hosted on SurveyMonkey. One hundred forty-nine participants were needed per G*Power calculations; however, a goal of 12% more was preferred to account for any missing data. At 171 participants (a 13% increase over the G*Power calculation), the data was downloaded from SurveyMonkey to a Microsoft Excel file and then transferred into SPSS version 28. One hundred and sixtysix participants completed the survey, with five having missing data. Once the data was in SPSS, the stigma score was calculated from the 10 items on the Self-Stigma of Seeking Help (SSOSH) Scale. To do this, items 2, 4, 5, 7, and 9 had to be recoded as the scale indicates they are reverse scored. Then, the 10 items were averaged for each participant.

Tests for Assumptions

Several tests in SPSS were computed to determine that the data did not violate any of the six logistic regression assumptions (Zach, 2020a). The first assumption with logistic regression is that the outcome (dependent) variable must be binary (yes or no). The dependent variable in this research assessed whether participants would attend a CISD if offered after a traumatic event with a yes or no option, then recoded "Would not attend" to 0 and "Would attend" to 1 in SPSS. The second assumption is that observations are independent and only measured once, which they were. The third assumption is to assess for multicollinearity, determining if the independent variables are too highly correlated and measuring the same thing. Pearson's correlation did not indicate multicollinearity; therefore, this assumption was not violated, as seen in Table 1.

Table 1

		Years of	
		Service	Stigma
Years of Service	Pearson	1	.101
	Correlation		
	Sig. (2-tailed)		.194
	Ν	171	166
Stigma	Pearson	.101	1
	Correlation		
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.194	
	Ν	166	166

Correlations

The fourth assumption is that the data will not contain any extreme outliers,

assessed by my computing Z-scores. Z-scores were computed for stigma and years spent

in emergency services and showed no outliers or response bias, as seen in Table 2 (Peng et al., 2002). According to Saleem et al. (2021), Z-scores should not be less than -3 or greater than 3.5; otherwise, they may be considered outliers. Z-scores for stigma or years spent in emergency services displayed no outliers, which does not violate this assumption.

Table 2

		Minimu			Std.
	Ν	m	Maximum	Mean	Deviation
Zscore: (Stigma)	166	-1.63	3.00	.00	1.00
Zscore: Years of	171	-1.74	1.02	.00	1.00
Service					
Valid N (listwise)	166				

Descriptive Statistics - Zscores

The fifth assumption in logistic regression is to determine whether the predictor (independent) variables (stigma and years spent in emergency services) were linearly related to the log odds (Zach, 2020a). A regression was used to analyze the interactions between Ln_Stigma and Ln_YearsofService in which no violations were found (displayed in Table 3)

Table 3

								95% C. EXP(B	
		В	S.E.	Wald	df	Sig.	Exp(B)	Lower	Upper
Step	Years of Service	262	.350	.559	1	.455	.770	.387	1.529
1^a	Stigma	007	1.083	.000	1	.995	.993	.119	8.288
	Years of Service	.070	.452	.024	1	.877	1.072	.443	2.599
	by								
	LN_Independent								
	Constant	3.008	2.354	1.634	1	.201	20.252		

Ing	Odds	Variables
LUg	Ouus	variables

The sixth and final assumption is that the sample size will be large enough to allow for the generalizability of the data. The total sample size calculated by G*Power was 149 with factors: alpha (a) = 0.05 and power = 0.80. This study used a sample size of 171, which exceeded the minimum sample size calculated by G*Power.

Descriptive Statistics

A total of 171 ESPs participated in the study, determining the predictive nature of stigma and years of service on attendance at CISDs. Complete data were obtained from 166 of those participants, or 97%. The majority of the participants were white (75.6%) followed by Hispanics and Asian. The majority of participants were also female at 61.6%, nearly doubling male participants. The sample accurately represents the emergency services demographic with respondents from each of the subgroups being studied. Tables 4 and 5 provide a breakdown of the gender and ethnicity of the study participants.

Table 4

				Valid	Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Percent
Valid	White	130	75.6	76.0	76.0
	Hispanic	14	8.1	8.2	84.2
	Black	4	2.3	2.3	86.5
	Asian	9	5.2	5.3	91.8
	Pacific	1	.6	.6	92.4
	Islander				
	American	4	2.3	2.3	94.7
	Indian				
	Prefer not to	9	5.2	5.3	100.0
	answer				
	Total	171	99.4	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.6		
Total		172	100.0		

Ethnicity of Participants

Table 5

Gender o	of Participants				
				Valid	Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Percent
Valid	Male	61	35.5	35.7	35.7
	Female	106	61.6	62.0	97.7
	Prefer not to	4	2.3	2.3	100.0
	answer				
	Total	171	99.4	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.6		
Total		172	100.0		

Results

The research question for this study examined to what extent stigma and years of service could predict attendance at CISDs. The means and standard deviations of the

independent variables stigma and years of service are presented in Table 6, and Exp(B) is displayed in Table 7. The predictor variables accounted for the data provided in the logistic regression analysis. The variables were entered simultaneously as stigma and how many years have you been an emergency services provider, with the dependent variable listed as "Would you attend a critical incident stress debriefing if offered after a traumatic event?" The predictor variables were found to be insignificant in predicting whether an ESP would attend a CISD after a traumatic event.

Table 6

Statistics

		Years of Service	Stigma
Ν	Valid	171	166
	Missing	1	6
Mear	n	4.52	2.09
Medi	ian	5.00	2.10
Mode	e	6	2.20
Std. 1	Deviation	1.448	.67
Varia	ance	2.098	.45
Mini	mum	2	1.00
Maxi	imum	6	4.10

Table 7

Variables in the Equation									
								95% C	C.I.for
								EXF	P (B)
		В	S.E.	Wald	df	Sig.	Exp(B)	Lower	Upper
Step	Years of Service	216	.181	1.423	1	.233	.806	.566	1.149
1 ^a	Stigma	.151	.375	.161	1	.688	1.163	.557	2.426
	Constant	2.690	1.133	5.636	1	.018	14.735		

Overall, the model was insignificant, X^2 (3, n = 171) = 1.594, p >.001, with three degrees of freedom, a sample size of 171, and a Chi-square value of 1.617 (see Table 8). Therefore, the results of this research fail to reject the null hypothesis. an The Classification Table (see Table 9) indicated that the model would correctly predict the outcome variable 88% of the time. This was true for step 0 (baseline) (see Table 7) and step 1 (see Table 8). The independent variables explained 1.9% of the variance in the dependent variable in the model, as indicated by Nagelkerke R Square, as shown in Table 9. Logistic regression was also run after eliminating the five missing data points for the stigma scale and came back with negligible differences.

Table 8

		Chi-		
		square	df	Sig.
Step 1	Step	1.594	2	.451
	Block	1.594	2	.451
	Mode	1.594	2	.451
	1			

Omnibus Tests of Model Coefficients

Table 9

1

Classif	fication Table ^a							
			Predicted	Predicted				
			Would you attend a Critical Incident Stress Debriefing if offered after a traumatic event?					
			Would not		Percentage			
	Observed		attend	Would attend	Correct			
Step 1	Would you attend a	Would not	0	20	.0			
	Critical Incident Stress Debriefing if offered after a traumatic event?	attend Would attend	0	146	100.0			
	Overall Percentage				88.0			
Fable 1 <i>Model</i>	10 Summary							
Step	-2 Log likelih	ood Cox	& Snell R Sq	uare Nagel	kerke R Square			

Summary

.010

120.544^a

This study examined the probability of stigma and years of service being able to predict attendance at CISDs. A detailed explanation of this study, data collection and analysis, and interpretation has been provided. The assumptions of logistic regression were provided and tested as well. While the results were insignificant, there are many other variables to consider when examining stigma to evaluate what barriers are present to help-seeking and how to eliminate them. The lack of significance provides further avenues and considerations for future research, which will be discussed in Chapter 5.

.018

Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

The purpose of this quantitative study was to examine if stigma and years of service could predict attendance at critical incident stress debriefings among emergency services personnel. This study was conducted to fill a gap in the literature focusing on stigma and a crisis intervention tactic known as CISDs and what variables may act as a barrier to those interventions impacting attendance. This study used survey methodology to obtain an anonymous sample of five different subgroups of emergency services around the United States. The data was collected via SurveyMonkey and then transferred to SPSS version 28 for analysis. The key findings revealed that stigma combined with years of service as predictor variables could not predict attendance at CISDs.

Interpretation of the Findings

This study provided an in-depth analysis of variables that could impact attendance at CISDs for ESPs. This was necessary, as the research in Chapter 2 supported the notion that stigmatization of mental health remains the most significant barrier to help-seeking behaviors among ESPs. The findings in this study showed that years of service combined with stigma were not an accurate predictor of attendance at CISDs.

These results could be due to a variety of factors. Carleton et al. (2020) posited that willingness to access support may be one of the most important factors in perceived barriers to care. While research supports the notion that ESPs are less willing to seek support from their supervisors, years of service may not always equate to a supervisory role meaning more experience could be influencing their decision to attend CISDs positively (Donovan, 2022; Shakespear-Finch et al., 2015).

Another potential factor is the increased interest and success emergency services agencies have had in peer support programs over the last several years (Cnapich et al., 2022; Horan et al., 2021). Peer support programs, as noted in Chapter 2, are designed to decrease stigma, provide training, and create a confidential environment where ESPs feel safe to disclose mental health concerns. Andrews et al. (2022) findings that peer support had the most impact on improving mental health could be impacting CISDs. This would be beneficial, as also discussed in Chapter 2, CISM, and therefore CISDs are a form of peer support because they are done by ESPs who have lived similar experiences and have the ability to connect to further resources (Cnapich et al., 2022; Mitchell, 2015). Regarding peer support and CISM, some states, such as Maryland and Arizona, have been enacting legislation in recent years to protect the confidentiality of peer support and/or CISM interventions (Maryland General Assembly, 2022; Taylor, 2022). Meaning interventionists who provide peer support services cannot be subpoenaed to testify about what was said in an in intervention, which protects the ESP receiving help and the ESP providing help. Potentially one of the biggest factors that could be impacting how ESPs perceive CISDs and other peer support programs is a 2021 law signed by President Joe Biden vowing to improve mental health programs for federal first responders through "clearer confidentiality standards" (Gaskill, 2021). While this law is applicable to federal ESPs, it may be prompting states to do the same.

The number of respondents who were MDIs could have potentially impacted the results as well. Very little, if any, research has been done since 2018 on the effects of traumatic stress among MDIs, and none was found on their willingness to participate in

CISDs or any specific crisis intervention tactic. No research was also found examining any demographic data such as gender, years of service, or ethnicity and how those impacted stigma among this subgroup. The ABMDI disseminated this research survey to its members, potentially accounting for some of the more than 70% of participants who were MDIs. Other major organizations and individuals disseminated as well with less of a response rate, potentially indicating the desire for MDIs to be included in future studies. If the large number of MDIs did impact the results of the study, it could also mean that they are willing and interested in being included in CISDs held by partner emergency services organizations but may or may not currently be receiving invitations when they are held.

Interpretation of the Theoretical Lens

This research was viewed through the theoretical lens of the person-inenvironment (PIE) theory. This research has examined in-depth CISM and CISDs, as well as mental health disorders. Both require a holistic, person-centered approach to treat or conduct and even begin mitigating symptomology. The Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA) (2022) has recognized this and put significant funding toward treating co-occurring disorders. Furthermore, Mitchell (2015) and Everly (2017), the founders of ICISF, discuss the necessity of using a holistic approach throughout their manuals on group and individual interventions. Basic crisis intervention principles also are clear on the fact that the interventionist should focus on the patient (ESPs) and not diminish or minimize their problem(s) while examining what aspects of their life might be fueling the crisis (Kanel, 2007; Mitchell, 2015; Yeager, 2015).

The PIE theory, being a social work theory, provided a theoretical foundation with the ability to understand and analyze the variables and concepts in this research by looking at the person in a holistic manner and their environment (Biscontini, 2023; Kondrat, 2015). The PIE theory conceptually focuses on the person and the environment as a two-way street or a circle, as one will impact the other. Throughout Chapter 2, many factors were examined on what could be affecting stigma and ultimately leading to increased behavioral health conditions among ESPs, which called for a theory that examined a person's situation on a macro level but allowed the interventionist to intervene on a micro level, consistent with the foundation of the PIE theory (Biscontini, 2023; Lowery & Cassidy, 2022; Rollo, 2009; Tiesman et al., 2021).

The results of the study further promote the importance of the PIE theory. While the results were insignificant on a macro level, further research can now take place on a micro level examining different variables discussed throughout this chapter and in Chapter 2. On a macro level of emergency services subgroups, this research was the first time MDIs had been included in research with their more common law enforcement, EMS, and fire partners. As noted, this could have skewed the results, but further examination with a holistic, person-centered theory will need to occur. While each subgroup is different in some job duties and cultural aspects, overall, this research demonstrated consistent elevation in stigma among all vocational subgroups. Future research needs to occur on a more micro level, examining MDIs (and continued research among other subgroups), but more research also must occur examining the subgroups together. The benefit of the PIE theory is the two-way street, and micro-level research can be taken as the basis for macro-level research or vice versa. The PIE theory also served the purpose of providing the foundation for this being a national study. National studies inclusive of all subgroups (macro level) are limited in the U.S. but have been successful in other countries such as Canada (cited throughout this research). More commonly found in the review of literature are individual studies of certain geographical areas and of certain subgroups (micro level), such as EMS Clinicians in North Carolina. Both macro and micro-level studies are needed to eliminate the stigma among ESPs, ultimately reducing the number of prevalent behavioral health conditions.

Limitations of the Study

There were several limitations to this study. One was the fact that the survey was disseminated via social media, websites, and other electronic forms anonymously. Therefore, no background or verification was taken of the participants, making it impossible to verify that they were indeed ESPs. While two verification questions were asked to determine if they were an ESP and what subgroup(s) they represented, there is no way to determine the honesty of respondents' answers. However, as noted in Chapter 3, the websites, social media forums, and individuals who disseminated were all affiliated with the different subgroups, and some required membership or were private mailing lists, so it is probable that only ESPs would have taken this survey. Furthermore, given

that terms like CISDs, years of service, and emergency services personnel may only commonly be used in these professions, the survey may have been difficult for someone outside of them to interpret.

Another limitation, as noted in Chapter 1, is the inherent flaws cross-sectional designs have in generalizing the results across the population (Babbie, 2016). This may hold more truth with this study, which encompassed five different emergency services subgroups and did not receive an equal number of respondents in each group (as anticipated). For example, the study had a large number of respondents from MDIs and EMS clinicians but a low response rate from LEOs. However, the results of this study will be generalized across the emergency services profession as a whole, which could serve as a limitation. Examining the same variables with a different design over time may yield different results.

The SSOSH scale could have been another limitation of the study. While the scale has been used successfully in other studies with ESPs and stigma, this study specifically asked about attendance at CISDs and not seeking professional mental health treatment. Prior to the SSOSH questions on the survey, a statement was input asking respondents to consider the next 10 questions in the context of attending a CISD after experiencing a traumatic event; however, there is no way to know whether they did. A more straightforward, potentially crisis-specific survey may yield different results. Another factor out of the researcher's control that could have served as a limitation is the inability to know or control whether a respondent took the survey more than once (Leary, 2021).

The survey was open access to any ESP with the link making it possible someone could have retaken it.

Another potential limitation, as noted in Chapter 1, is the inability to control or know how ESPs may have been feeling when they took this survey. If they were feeling the effects of traumatic stress, that could have altered their responses. Furthermore, participants could have experienced a negative CISD in the past that affected how they completed the survey. While all CISDs are designed to follow a specific model, there are no regulations to ensure that occurs, making deviation a possibility.

While nothing was found in this research to question the trustworthiness, reliability, or validity of the study, as mentioned, there were a considerably higher number of MDIs and EMS clinicians that participated than any other subgroup. Two other potential concerns that should be noted are that 75.6 % of the respondents were white and 61.6% were females (shown in Tables 4 and 5, respectively, in Chapter 4). As noted in Chapter 2, current research supports the notion that males tend to be the ones more stigmatized for help-seeking (Drew & Martin, 2021; Van Hasselt et al., 2019). These statistics may make it difficult to generalize across not only the emergency services subgroups but also gender and ethnicity.

Recommendations

There are several opportunities and recommendations for future research in this area. From the literature review conducted in Chapter 2, there are no studies including MDIs in research with other emergency services subgroups. The high response rate of that subgroup in this study may indicate their desire and willingness to participate and be included in future research. With that being said, the opportunity to use a potentially more crisis-specific scale and gain a more equal number of participants for each subgroup may make the results more generalizable if doing an inclusive study. An opportunity to select so many participants and study them over the course of a certain time span may be beneficial to track changes in stigma levels as well as provide more data points.

While the results of this study demonstrated years of service did not appear to be a predictor variable when coupled with stigma, that does not necessarily equate to rank, which is another variable that could be studied. As noted in Chapter 2, supervisory support can be a protective factor if available or a risk factor if absent (Carleton et al., 2020). Including rank may elucidate when combined with years of service since all emergency services subgroups may not have ranks, like MDIs. Continuing to investigate males and females also presents future direction as it could be inferred from this research that women are still less stigmatized than males when help-seeking. While much of the current research in the United States tends to focus on specific cities and states for ESPs (Horan et al., 2021; Lowery & Cassidy, 2022; Renkiewicz et al., 2021), and this should continue, further national studies should be considered as the research demonstrated that the challenges of stigma being faced are common throughout the U.S. and not in any specific city or state.

While not directly related to this study, Acute Stress Disorder (ASD) and Posttraumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) are both mentioned as behavioral health conditions in Chapter 2. The overall goal of this research was to examine if attendance could be predicted at a CISD designed to mitigate acute stress reactions. As research continues to develop and PTSD becomes more understood, future research should increase in studying ASD. The end goal of studying PTSD should be how to best prevent and mitigate the symptomology in the acute stress phase prior to the diagnosable timeframe. As Kanel (2007) and Mitchell (2015) noted, early intervention is the key to crisis intervention. The earlier an individual is intervened with, the higher the likelihood they will recover and quicker.

Implications

While the results of this study were found to be insignificant, this was valuable in and of itself to provide more depth on how this and future research can impact positive social change. The indication that years of service, when coupled with stigma, does not impact attendance at CISDs allows the research community to explore new directions and variables for research, such as gender, rank, and/or ethnicity. Organizations such as the International Critical Incident Stress Foundation, the American Academy of Experts in Traumatic Stress, and state and local crisis response teams can be reignited to continue providing education and critical incident response to further decrease the stigma surrounding help-seeking. Years of service was only one of many variables to explore in the fight to eliminate stigma and increase help-seeking among ESPs. Carleton et al. (2020), as well as Drew and Martin (2021) both studied or noted the need for further demographic data to be studied among emergency services subgroups and how it may relate to stigma. Continued research in exploring these variables will demonstrate if any hold significance and provide further insight as to how stigma can be eliminated. From a theoretical perspective, there are also implications relating to the PIE theory. The insignificance of the results from this study highlights the importance of a theory that evaluates the ESP as a whole because future research, whether qualitative or quantitative, may need to evaluate other variables coupled with stigma (Rollo, 2009). Determining what those variables are, such as gender or ethnicity, could be the key to eliminating stigma. When crisis, peer support, and mental health professionals are interacting with ESPs and continuing research, a theory that provides the foundation for a holistic approach may be essential.

Significance can also be drawn from the vast implications that could be inferred regarding Adtalem's Social Determinants of Learning and Social Determinants of Health (Adtalem, 2022; Sanderson et al., 2021). If the results of this study are an indication, training and education may be providing more knowledge therefore decreasing stigmatization of help-seeking. This, in turn, can affect the physical and psychosocial health of ESPs, as well as promote healthier social environments at home and work, increasing social support (Hilbrink, 2022). The end result of healthier and supported ESPs could be an improved workforce with better economic stability and self-motivation. While this study focused on the mental health of ESPs, it should be noted that these effects may then begin to be noticed by the general public with future macro-level benefits for society.

Conclusion

This quantitative study examined how stigma and years of service could predict attendance at CISDs for emergency services personnel. This study used survey methodology and the SSOSH scale to gather data from five subgroups of emergency services. While years of service was not found to be predictive, gender, ethnicity, and rank may be potential areas for future research directions.

There is an epidemic happening among ESPs who are proven to experience an increased level of traumatic events due to the nature of their work and in turn, experience increased traumatogenic reactions. Due to the stigma that is still proven to exist within this population, there is a substantial barrier to ESPs seeking help, which results in increased levels of behavioral health conditions from these traumatogenic reactions. Future emergency services research must be inclusive of all subgroups, not just *first* responders, as other professionals responding to emergency scenes have been found to experience similar levels of traumatic stress. CISDs are one form of crisis intervention designed to mitigate the impact of acute traumatic stress, but they have to be used to be effective. By understanding and addressing the factors that contribute to stigma, we can eliminate it as the number one barrier to help-seeking among emergency services personnel.

97

References

Adtalem Global Education. (2022). Social determinants of learning[™]: An actionable framework to reduce systemic barriers in education.

https://www.adtalem.com/newsroom/articles/social-determinants-of-learningtman-actionable-framework-to-reduce-systemic-barriers-in-education

Ahmadboukani, S., Dargahi, S., & Toosi, M. (2022). Investigating the moderating role of thwarted belongingness, perceived burdensomeness, and suicidal capability in suicidal behavior. *Dusunen Adam: The Journal of Psychiatry and Neurological Sciences*, 35(4), 217-228. <u>https://doi.org/10.14744/dajpns.2022.00196</u>

American Psychological Association. (2008, September 23). The stress-distressimpairment continuum for psychologists. https://www.apaservices.org. https://www.apaservices.org/practice/ce/self-care/colleague-assist

American Psychological Association. (2022). Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders, text revision dsm-5-tr (5th ed.) [PDF] American Psychiatric Pub Inc. https://www.migna.ir/images/docs/files/000058/nf00058253-2.pdf

American Psychological Association. (2023). Crisis. https://dictionary.apa.org/crisis

Anderson, G. S., Di Nota, P. M., Groll, D., & Carleton, R. (2020). Peer support and crisis-focused psychological interventions designed to mitigate post-traumatic stress injuries among public safety and frontline healthcare personnel: A systematic review. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(20). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17207645

Andrews, K. L., Jamshidi, L., Nisbet, J., Teckchandani, T. A., Price, J. B., Ricciardelli,

R., Anderson, G. S., & Carleton, R. (2022). Mental health training, attitudes toward support, and screening positive for mental disorders among Canadian coast guard and conservation and protection officers. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(23).

https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph192315734

Axelrod, J. (2018). Rescuing the rescuers. American City & County, 133(3), 2-8.

- Barrera, M., Jr. (1986). Distinctions between social support concepts, measures, and models. American Journal of Community Psychology, 14(4), 413–445. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/bf00922627</u>
- Beyond Blue Ltd. (2015). Beyond blue information paper: Stigma and discrimination associated with depression and anxiety. Beyondblue.
- Biscontini, T. (2023). Person-in-Environment (PIE) Theory. Salem Press Encyclopedia.
- Blaney, L. S. (2009). Beyond 'knee jerk' reaction: CISM as a health promotion construct. *Irish Journal of Psychology*, 30(1), 37–57.
- Boothroyd, R. A., Green, S., & Dougherty, A. (2019). Evaluation of operation restore: A brief intervention for first responders exposed to traumatic events. *Traumatology*, 25(3), 162–171. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/trm0000168</u>
- Bowers, C. A., Beidel, D. C., & Marks, M. R. (2022). Obstacles to mental health treatment: Similarities and differences among first responder groups. *Journal of Community Safety and Well-Being*, 7(2), 42–46. https://doi.org/10.35502/jcswb.248

Braaten, E. (Ed.) (2018). The SAGE encyclopedia of intellectual and developmental

disorders. (Vols. 1-4). SAGE Publications, Inc.,

- Bremner, J. (2006). Traumatic stress: Effects on the brain. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*, 8(4), 445–461. https://doi.org/10.31887/dcns.2006.8.4/jbremner
- Brondolo, E., Eftekharzadeh, P., Clifton, C., Schwartz, J. E., & Delahanty, D. (2018).
 Work-related trauma, alienation, and posttraumatic and depressive symptoms in medical examiner employees. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy*, *10*(6), 689–697. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/tra0000323</u>
- Brondolo, E., Kaur, A., Brondolo, T. J., Schwartz, J. E., & Delahanty, D. L. (2017).
 Development of a web-based scalable intervention to reduce mental health risks in medical examiner personnel. *Testing, Psychometrics, Methodology in Applied Psychology*, 24(3), 409–421. <u>https://doi.org/10.4473/TPM24.3.7</u>
- Brondolo, E., Wellington, R., Brady, N., Libby, D., & Brondolo, T. J. (2008). Mechanism and strategies for preventing post-traumatic stress disorder in forensic workers responding to mass fatality incidents. *Journal of Forensic and Legal Medicine*, *15*(2), 78–88. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jflm.2007.04.007</u>
- Brondolo, E., Wellington, R., Brondolo, E., Brondolo, T. J., & Delahanty, D. (2012).
 Work-related predictors of psychological distress among medical examiner and coroner personnel. *Academic Forensic Pathology*, 2(1), 80–91.
 https://doi.org/10.23907/2012.011
- Bryant, R. A. (2022). The nature of posttraumatic stress disorder in treatment-seeking first responders. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology*, 13(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/20008198.2021.2011602</u>

Bullock, K., & Garland, J. (2017). Police officers, mental (ill-)health and spoiled identity. *Criminology & Criminal Justice*, 18(2), 173–189.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1748895817695856

- Burzee, Z., Bowers, C., & Beidel, D. (2022). A re-evaluation of Stuart's police officer stigma scale: Measuring mental health stigma in first responders. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 10. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2022.951347</u>
- Cahill, S. P., & Pontoski, K. (2005). Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder and Acute Stress Disorder I: Their nature and assessment considerations. *Psychiatry (Edgmont)*, 2(4), 14–25.
- Caplan, G. (1961). *An approach to community mental health*. Routledge. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315013879</u>
- Caplan, G. (1974). Support systems and community mental health: Lectures on concept development. Behavioral Publications.
- Carl, M. (2021, June 3). *Mental health vs. physical health*. ACSA Resource Hub -. <u>https://content.acsa.org/mental-health-vs-physical-health/</u>

Carleton, R., Afifi, T. O., Turner, S., Taillieu, T., LeBouthillier, D. M., Duranceau, S., Sareen, J., Ricciardelli, R., MacPhee, R. S., Groll, D., Hozempa, K., Brunet, A., Weekes, J. R., Griffiths, C. T., Abrams, K. J., Jones, N. A., Beshai, S., Cramm, H. A., Dobson, K. S.,...Asmundson, G. G. (2018). Suicidal ideation, plans, and attempts among public safety personnel in Canada. *Canadian Psychology / Psychologie canadienne*, *59*(3), 220–231. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/cap0000136</u>

Carpenter, T. P., Pennington, M. L., Seebeck, J., Gomez, D. R., Denman, T. C., Kimbrel,

N. A., Cammarata, C. M., Leto, F., Ostiguy, W. J., & Gulliver, S. B. (2020). Dispositional self-forgiveness in firefighters predicts less help-seeking stigma and fewer mental health challenges. *Stigma and Health*, *5*(1), 29–37. https://doi.org/10.1037/sah0000172

Chen, Y., Li, X., Chen, C., An, Y., Shi, J., Huang, J., & Zhao, Y. (2021). Influence of avoidant coping on posttraumatic stress symptoms and job burnout among firefighters: The mediating role of perceived social support. *Disaster Medicine* and Public Health Preparedness, 16(4), 1476–1481.

https://doi.org/10.1017/dmp.2021.155

- Chu, C., Buchman-Schmitt, J. M., Stanley, I. H., Hom, M. A., Tucker, R. P., Hagan, C. R., Rogers, M. L., Podlogar, M. C., Chiurliza, B., Ringer, F. B., Michaels, M. S., Patros, C. G., & Joiner, T. E. (2017). The interpersonal theory of suicide: A systematic review and meta-analysis of a decade of cross-national research. *Psychological Bulletin*, *143*(12), 1313–1345. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000123</u>
- Clement, S., Schauman, O., Graham, T., Maggioni, F., Evans-Lacko, S., Bezborodovs, N., Morgan, C., Rüsch, N., Brown, J. L., & Thornicroft, G. (2014). What is the impact of mental health-related stigma on help-seeking? A systematic review of quantitative and qualitative studies. *Psychological Medicine*, 45(1), 11–27. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0033291714000129
- Cnapich, E., Rodriguez, S., Schuhmann, B., Couwels, J., Van Hasselt, V., & Blalock, J. (2022). *First responder peer support programs*. Law Enforcement Bulletin.

Cohen, S., & Wills, T. A. (1985). Stress, social support, and the buffering hypothesis.

Psychological Bulletin, 98(2), 310-357. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-

2909.98.2.310

Coleman, J. A., Delahanty, D. L., Schwartz, J., Murani, K., & Brondolo, E. (2016). The moderating impact of interacting with distressed families of decedents on trauma exposure in medical examiner personnel. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy*, 8(6), 668–675.

https://doi.org/10.1037/tra0000097

- Corrigan, P. W., & Penn, D. L. (1999). Lessons from social psychology on discrediting psychiatric stigma. *American Psychologist*, 54(9), 765–776. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066x.54.9.765</u>
- Crane, M. F., Falon, S. L., Kho, M., Moss, A., & Adler, A. B. (2022). Developing resilience in first responders: Strategies for enhancing psychoeducational service delivery. *Psychological Services*, 19(Suppl 2), 17–27.

https://doi.org/10.1037/ser0000439

- Crawford, K. A., & Flannery, R. B., Jr. (2002). Critical incident stress management and the Office of the Chief Medical Examiner: Preliminary Inquiry. *International Journal of Emergency Mental Health*, 4(2), 93–97.
- Crocq, M.-A., & Crocq, L. (2000). From shell shock and war neurosis to posttraumatic stress disorder: A history of psychotraumatology. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*, 2(1), 47–55. <u>https://doi.org/10.31887/dcns.2000.2.1/macrocq</u>
- Dangermond, K., Weewer, R., Duyndam, J., & Machielse, A. (2023). "The profession is just different": Why noncareer and career firefighters have different experiences

with critical incidents, and the role of informal peer support in processing them. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice*, *54*(2), 147–155. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/pro0000484</u>

Donovan, N. (2022). Peer support facilitates post-traumatic growth in first responders: A literature review. *Trauma*, 24(4), 277–285.

https://doi.org/10.1177/14604086221079441

- Drew, J. M., & Martin, S. (2021). A national study of police mental health in the USA:
 Stigma, mental health and help-seeking behaviors. *Journal of Police and Criminal Psychology*, *36*(2), 295–306. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11896-020-09424-9</u>
- Drosdick-Sigafoos, R. (2022). Hope's Moderating Effects on Crisis Worker's Meaning in Work and Turnover Intentions (ProQuest).

Everly, G. S., Jr. (2017). Assisting individuals in crisis (Fifth Revised ed.).

- Everly, G. S., Jr, Boyle, S. H., & Lating, J. M. (1999). The effectiveness of psychological debriefing with vicarious trauma: a meta-analysis. *Stress Medicine*, 15(4), 229– 233.
- Everly, G. S., Jr, Flannery, R. B., & Mitchell, J. T. (2000). Critical incident stress management (cism). Aggression and Violent Behavior, 5(1), 23–40. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s1359-1789(98)00026-3</u>
- Fahy, R., Evarts, B., & Stein, G. P. (2022). US Fire Department Profile 2020 [PDF].National Fire Protection Agency (NFPA).
- Flannery, R. B., & Greenhalgh, T. (2018). Coroners and PTSD: Treatment implications. *Psychiatric Quarterly*, 89(4), 765–770. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11126-018-9580-</u>

Fogarty, A., Steel, Z., Ward, P. B., Boydell, K. M., McKeon, G., & Rosenbaum, S.

9

(2021). Trauma and mental health awareness in emergency service workers: A qualitative evaluation of the behind the seen education workshops. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *18*(9), 4418. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18094418

- Gaskill, H. (2021, November 18). *Biden signs first-responder mental health support legislation into law - congressman David Trone*. Congressman David Trone. <u>https://trone.house.gov/2021/11/18/biden-signs-first-responder-mental-health-support-legislation-into-law/</u>
- Goffman, E. (1963). *Stigma: Notes on the Management of Spoiled Identity*. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Haugen, P. T., Evces, M., & Weiss, D. S. (2012). Treating posttraumatic stress disorder in first responders: A systematic review. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *32*(5), 370– 380. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2012.04.001
- Haugen, P. T., McCrillis, A. M., Smid, G. E., & Nijdam, M. J. (2017). Mental health stigma and barriers to mental health care for first responders: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 94, 218–229. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2017.08.001
- Hazell, C. M., Fielding-Smith, S., Koc, Y., & Hayward, M. (2022). Pilot evaluation of a brief training video aimed at reducing mental health stigma amongst emergency first responders (the enhance ii study). *Journal of Mental Health*, 1–9.

https://doi.org/10.1080/09638237.2022.2069707

- Heffren, C. D., & Hausdorf, P. A. (2014). Post-traumatic effects in policing: Perceptions, stigmas and help seeking behaviours. *Police Practice and Research*, *17*(5), 420–433. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15614263.2014.958488</u>
- Hirsch, J. K., Webb, J. R., & Jeglic, E. L. (2011). Forgiveness, depression, and suicidal behavior among a diverse sample of college students. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 67(9), 896–906. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.20812</u>
- Horan, K. A., Marks, M., Ruiz, J., Bowers, C., & Cunningham, A. (2021). Here for my peer: The future of first responder mental health. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(21), 11097.
 https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph182111097

International Board of Specialty Certifications. (2023). *International board of specialty certification (ibsc) - knowledge, experience, excellence.*

https://www.ibscertifications.org/

International Critical Incident Stress Foundation. (2023). About us - icisf. ICISF.

https://icisf.org/about-us/

Johnson, C. C., Vega, L., Kohalmi, A. L., Roth, J. C., Howell, B. R., & Van Hasselt, V.
B. (2020). Enhancing mental health treatment for the firefighter population: Understanding fire culture, treatment barriers, practice implications, and research directions. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice*, *51*(3), 304–311. https://doi.org/10.1037/pro0000266

Johnson, J. (2019, September 24). Policing through 25 years of accelerating change.

Police1. https://www.police1.com/chiefs-sheriffs/articles/policing-through-25years-of-accelerating-change-023Y5wPNnlWKpUbc/

Johnson, M. T. (2013). What is culture? What does it do? What should it do? In *Evaluating culture* (pp. 97–119). https://doi.org/10.1057/9781137313799_5

Jones, S., Agud, K., & McSweeney, J. (2020). Barriers and facilitators to seeking mental health care among first responders: "Removing the darkness". *Journal of the American Psychiatric Nurses Association*, 26(1), 43–54.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1078390319871997

Kanel, K. (2007). A guide to crisis intervention (3rd ed.). Brooks Cole.

Kondrat, M. E. (2015). Person-in-Environment. Oxford Bibliographies.

- Kraffa, K. M., & Tochkov, K. (2013). Attitudes toward seeking mental health treatment among law enforcement officers. *Applied Psychology in Criminal Justice*, 9(2).
- Krakauer, R. L., Stelnicki, A. M., & Carleton, R. (2020). Examining mental health knowledge, stigma, and service use intentions among public safety personnel. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 11. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.00949</u>
- Kronenberg, M., Osofsky, H., Osofsky, J., Many, M., & Hardy, M. (2008). First responder culture: Implications for mental health professionals providing services following a natural disaster. *Psychiatric Annals*, *38*(2), 114–118. <u>https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/first-responder-culture-implications-</u> mental/docview/217035508/se-2
- Lanza, A., Roysircar, G., & Rodgers, S. (2018). First responder mental healthcare: Evidence-based prevention, postvention, and treatment. *Professional Psychology:*

Research and Practice, 49(3), 193–204. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/pro0000192</u>

- Leary, M. D. (2021). Examining Personal and Organizational Factors Leading to Police Officers' Underutilization of Employee Assistance Programs [PDF].
- Lentz, L. M., Smith-MacDonald, L., Malloy, D., Carleton, R., & Brémault-Phillips, S. (2021). Compromised conscience: A scoping review of moral injury among firefighters, paramedics, and police officers. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 12. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.639781</u>
- Lepedito, J. (2021, September 7). *Critical incident stress: The hidden problem in American policing, and how we fix it*. LinkedIn. <u>https://www.linkedin.com/pulse/critical-incident-stress-hidden-problem-american-how-we-joe-lopedito/</u>
- Levenson, R. L., Jr. (2007). Prevention of traumatic stress in law enforcement personnel: A cursory look at the role of peer support and critical incident stress management. *The Forensic Examiner*, *16*(3), 16–19.
- Li, X., Sun, L., Li, Q., & Wang, L. (2021). Prediction of posttraumatic stress disorder by acute stress disorder in traffic accident survivors. *TURKISH JOURNAL OF MEDICAL SCIENCES*, 51(5), 2502–2509. https://doi.org/10.3906/sag-2008-282
- Lilly, M. M., & Pierce, H. (2013). PTSD and depressive symptoms in 911 telecommunicators: The role of peritraumatic distress and world assumptions in predicting risk. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy*, 5(2), 135–141. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0026850</u>
- Losh, S. C. (n.d.). Guide 4: Quasi experimental; internal validity, & issues with

experiments. https://myweb.fsu.edu/slosh/MethodsGuide4.html

- Lowery, A., & Cassidy, T. (2022). Health and well-being of first responders: The role of psychological capital, self-compassion, social support, relationship satisfaction, and physical activity. *Journal of Workplace Behavioral Health*, *37*(2), 87–105. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15555240.2021.1990776</u>
- Mackey, R. A. (1968). Crisis theory: Its development and relevance to social casework practice. *The Family Coordinator*, *17*(3), 165. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/582257</u>
- Martz, E., & Lindy, J. (2010). Exploring the trauma membrane concept. In *Trauma rehabilitation after war and conflict* (pp. 27–54). Springer New York. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-5722-1_2
- Maryland General Assembly. (2022). Public safety Fire, rescue, or emergency medical services entities Peer support programs.

https://mgaleg.maryland.gov/mgawebsite/Legislation/Details/sb0446?ys=2022RS

Merriam-Webster. (2023). Definition of crisis. Merriam-Webster Dictionary.

https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/crisis

Merrimack Fire-Rescue-EMS. (n.d.). The history of firefighting.

https://www.merrimacknh.gov/about-fire-rescue/pages/the-history-of-firefighting

Mirzaei, A., Carter, S. R., Patanwala, A. E., & Schneider, C. R. (2022a). Missing data in surveys: Key concepts, approaches, and applications. *Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy*, 18(2), 2308–2316. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sapharm.2021.03.009

Mitchell, J. T. (2003). Major misconceptions in crisis intervention. International Journal

of Emergency Mental Health, 5(4).

- Murdoch, M., Simon, A., Polusny, M., Bangerter, A., Grill, J., Noorbaloochi, S., & Partin, M. (2014). Impact of different privacy conditions and incentives on survey response rate, participant representativeness, and disclosure of sensitive information: A randomized controlled trial. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *14*(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2288-14-90</u>
- National Law Enforcement Officers Memorial Fund. (2023). Important dates in law enforcement history - national law enforcement officers memorial fund. <u>https://nleomf.org/memorial/facts-figures/dates-in-law-enforcement-history/</u>
- National Registry of Emergency Medical Technicians. (2023). About the national registry. <u>https://nremt.org/about/about-us</u>
- O' Rourke, N., & Hyland, J. M. (2021). Coping strategies employed by Irish firefighters, association with stress and anxiety, and the use of critical incident stress management (cism) support. *DBS Business Review*, *4*.

https://doi.org/10.22375/dbr.v4i0.75

- O'Toole, M., Mulhall, C., & Eppich, W. (2022). Breaking down barriers to help-seeking: Preparing first responders' families for psychological first aid. *European Journal* of Psychotraumatology, 13(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/20008198.2022.2065430</u>
- Ohrnberger, J., Fichera, E., & Sutton, M. (2017). The relationship between physical and mental health: A mediation analysis. *Social Science & Medicine*, 195, 42–49. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2017.11.008</u>

Park, C. L., Mills, M., & Edmondson, D. (2012). PTSD as meaning violation: Testing a

cognitive worldview perspective. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy*, 4(1), 66–73. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0018792</u>

- Peng, C.-Y., Lee, K., & Ingersoll, G. M. (2002). An introduction to logistic regression analysis and reporting. *The Journal of Educational Research*, 96(1), 3–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00220670209598786</u>
- Penn State. (2018a). *10.7 detecting multicollinearity using variance inflation factors*. <u>https://online.stat.psu.edu/stat462/node/180/</u>
- Penn State. (2018b). 12.1 logistic regression.

https://online.stat.psu.edu/stat462/node/207/

Pittwire. (2019, December 4). *First responders' workplace motivation affected by public perception*. University of Pittsburgh. <u>https://www.pitt.edu/pittwire/features-articles/first-responders-workplace-motivation-affected-public-perception</u>

Powers, R. K. (2022). The Impact of Wrongful Death Lawsuits on Police Officers.

- Price, J. B., Landry, C. A., Sych, J., McNeill, M., Stelnicki, A. M., Asmundson, A. N., & Carleton, R. (2022). Assessing the perceptions and impact of critical incident stress management peer support among firefighters and paramedics in Canada. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(9), 4976. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19094976</u>
- Rapoport, L. (1965). Crisis-oriented short-term casework. *Social Service Review*, *41*(1), 31–43. https://doi.org/10.1086/642030.
- Rapoport, L. (1962). Working with families in crisis: An exploration in preventive intervention. *Social Work*, 7(3), 48–56. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/sw/7.3.48</u>

- Renkiewicz, G. K., & Hubble, M. W. (2021). Secondary traumatic stress in emergency services systems (stress) project: Quantifying and predicting compassion fatigue in emergency medical services personnel. *Prehospital Emergency Care*, 26(5), 652–663. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10903127.2021.1943578</u>
- Renkiewicz, G. K., & Hubble, M. W. (2023). Secondary trauma response in emergency services systems (stress) project: Quantifying and predicting vicarious trauma in emergency medical services personnel. *British Paramedic Journal*, 7(4), 23–34. https://doi.org/10.29045/14784726.2023.3.7.4.23
- Ricciardelli, R., Carleton, R., Mooney, T., & Cramm, H. (2018). "Playing the system": Structural factors potentiating mental health stigma, challenging awareness, and creating barriers to care for Canadian public safety personnel. *Health: An Interdisciplinary Journal for the Social Study of Health, Illness and Medicine*, 24(3), 259–278. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1363459318800167</u>
- Richards, D. (2001). A field study of critical incident stress debriefing versus critical incident stress management. *Journal of Mental Health*, *10*(3), 351–362.
- Richins, M. T., Gauntlett, L., Tehrani, N., Hesketh, I., Weston, D., Carter, H., & Amlôt,
 R. (2020). Early post-trauma interventions in organizations: A scoping review. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *11*. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.01176</u>

Robinson, R. (2004). Counterbalancing misrepresentations of critical incident stress debriefing and critical incident stress management. *Australian Psychologist*, 39(1), 29–34. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00050060410001660308</u>

Robinson, R. (2007). Commentary on "issues in the debriefing debate for the emergency

services: Moving research outcomes forward.". *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice*, *14*(2), 121–123. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2850.2007.00071.x</u>

- Sacks, S. B., Clements, P. T., & Fay-Hillier, T. (2001). Care After Chaos: Use of critical incident stress debriefing after traumatic workplace events. *Career Perspectives*, 37(4), 133.
- Saleem, S., Aslam, M., & Shaukat, M. R. (2021). A Review and Empirical Comparison of Univariate Outlier Detection Methods. *Pakistan Journal of Statistics*, 37(4), 447–462.
- Salkind, N. J., & Frey, B. B. (2020). *Statistics for People Who (Think They) Hate Statistics* (7th ed.). SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Sanderson, C. D., Hollinger-Smith, L. M., & Cox, K. (2021). Developing a social determinants of learning[™] framework: A case study. *Nursing Education Perspectives*, 42(4), 205–211. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/01.nep.000000000000810</u>
- Schreiber-Gregory, D. (2018). Logistic and Linear Regression Assumptions: Violation Recognition and Control [PDF].

https://www.lexjansen.com/wuss/2018/130_Final_Paper_PDF.pdf

Schwartz, N. (2022, November 10). Firefighters and Fire Departments by the Numbers. National Fire Protection Association. <u>https://www.nfpa.org/News-and-</u> <u>Research/Publications-and-media/Blogs-Landing-Page/NFPA-Today/Blog-</u> <u>Posts/2022/11/10/Firefighters-and-Fire-Departments-by-the-Numbers</u>

Shakespeare-Finch, J., Rees, A., & Armstrong, D. (2014). Social support, self-efficacy, trauma and well-being in emergency medical dispatchers. *Social Indicators*

Research, 123(2), 549–565. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-014-0749-9

- Slade, K. (2021). Occupational Stress injury study reveals the link between mental health outcomes and workplace outcomes. *OOHNA Journal*, 40(1), 27–28.
- Smirnova, M. O., Meckes, S. J., & Lancaster, C. L. (2022). The protective effects of perceived cohesion on the mental health of first responders. *Psychological Services*, 19(Suppl 1), 23–33. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/ser0000580</u>
- Sommer, H. (2013). A Review of The History, Theory, and Effectiveness of Critical Incident Stress Debriefing (CISD).
- Stanley, I. H., Hom, M. A., & Joiner, T. E. (2016). A systematic review of suicidal thoughts and behaviors among police officers, firefighters, EMTs, and paramedics. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 44, 25–44.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2015.12.002

Stanley, I. H., Lebeaut, A., Betz, M. E., Wright, A., & Vujanovic, A. A. (2023). Firearm ownership and storage practices among United States firefighters and emergency medical services personnel. *Psychological Services*.

https://doi.org/10.1037/ser0000780

Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2022). The case for screening and treatment of co-occurring disorders. samhsa.gov.

https://www.samhsa.gov/co-occurring-disorders

Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2023). Understanding and addressing vicarious trauma (reading course). U.S. Department of Health & Human Services. <u>https://www.samhsa.gov/resource/dbhis/understanding-</u> addressing-vicarious-trauma-reading-course

- Taylor, M. (2022). Arizona law protects confidential peer-support group for physicians. Becker's Hospital Review. <u>https://www.beckershospitalreview.com/hospital-physician-relationships/arizona-law-protects-confidential-peer-support-group-for-physicians.html</u>
- Terr, L. C. (1991). Childhood traumas: An outline and overview. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *148*(1), 10–20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/ajp.148.1.10</u>
- Thoits, P. A. (2010). Stress and health: Major findings and policy implications. *Journal* of Health and Social Behavior, 51(1_suppl), S41–S53. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022146510383499
- Tjin, A., Traynor, A., Doyle, B., Mulhall, C., Eppich, W., & O'Toole, M. (2022). Turning to 'trusted others': A narrative review of providing social support to first responders. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(24), 16492. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph192416492
- Tuckey, M. R., & Scott, J. E. (2013). Group critical incident stress debriefing with emergency services personnel: A randomized controlled trial. *Anxiety, Stress, & Coping, 27*(1), 38–54. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10615806.2013.809421</u>
- Van Hasselt, V. B., Klimley, K. E., Rodriguez, S., Themis-Fernandez, M., Henderson, S. N., & Schneider, B. A. (2019). Peers as law enforcement support (pals): An early prevention program. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, 48, 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.avb.2019.05.004
- Van Orden, K. A., Witte, T. K., Cukrowicz, K. C., Braithwaite, S. R., Selby, E. A., &

Joiner, T. E. (2010). The interpersonal theory of suicide. *Psychological Review*, *117*(2), 575–600. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0018697</u>

- Vidales, C. A., Vogel, D. L., & Levant, R. F. (2023). The self-stigma of seeking help (ssosh) scale: Measurement invariance across men from different backgrounds. *Measurement and Evaluation in Counseling and Development*, 1–15.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/07481756.2022.2160356</u>
- Vogel, D. L., Wade, N. G., & Haake, S. (2006). Measuring the self-stigma associated with seeking psychological help. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 53(3), 325– 337. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0167.53.3.325</u>
- Wang, X., & Cheng, Z. (2020). Cross-sectional studies. *Chest*, *158*(1), S65–S71. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chest.2020.03.012</u>
- Wild, J., Greenberg, N., Moulds, M. L., Sharp, M.-L., Fear, N., Harvey, S., Wessely, S., & Bryant, R. A. (2020). Pre-incident training to build resilience in first responders: Recommendations on what to and what not to do. *Psychiatry*, 83(2), 128–142. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00332747.2020.1750215</u>
- Wirtz, M. (2004). On the problem of missing data: How to identify and reduce the impact of missing data on findings of data analysis. *Rehabilitation*, 43(2), 109–115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2003-814839</u>
- World Health Organization. (2001). *The world health report 2001: Mental health: New understanding, new hope (public health).*
- Wyatt, J. C. (2000). When to use web-based surveys. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*, 7(4), 426–430.

https://doi.org/10.1136/jamia.2000.0070426

- Bobbitt, Zach. (2020a, October 13). *The 6 assumptions of logistic regression (with examples)*. Statology. <u>https://www.statology.org/assumptions-of-logistic-regression/</u>
- Bobbitt, Zach. (2020b, October 27). *Introduction to logistic regression statology*. Statology. <u>https://www.statology.org/logistic-regression/</u>
- Bobbitt, Zach. (2021, August 7). *Logistic regression vs. linear regression: The key differences - statology*. Statology. <u>https://www.statology.org/logistic-regression-</u> vs-linear-regression/

Appendix A: Permission for SSOSH Scale Use



SSOSH Scale

The Self-Stigma Of Seeking Psychology Help (SSOSH) scale is free for use for research purposes. To download the original or translated versions of the scale please click on the links below:

Self-Stigma of Seeking Help (SSOSH) scale (by Vogel, Wade, & Haake, 2006)

Albanian Version (translated by Esheref Haxhiu)

Arabic Version (translated by Fatima Rashed Al-Darmaki)

Chinese Versions (translated by Hsin-Ya Liao and Winnie W. Mak)

French Version (Translated by Pascale Aribaud)

German Version (translated by Agata Drabek)

Greek Version I (translated by Elli Kouvaraki)

Greek Version II (translated by Sotiropoulou Ifigeneia)

Hungarian Version (translated by Erika Batki)

Italian Version (translated by Aimone Pignattelli)

Japanese Version (translated by Moe Ina)

Appendix B: SSOSH Scale

INSTRUCTIONS: People at times find that they face problems that they consider seeking help for. This can bring up reactions about what seeking help would mean. Please use the 5-point scale to rate the degree to which each item describes how you might react in this situation.

1 = Strongly Disagree 2 = Disagree 3 = Agree & Disagree Equally 4 = Agree 5 = Strongly Agree

1. I would feel inadequate if I went to a therapist for psychological help.

2. My self-confidence would NOT be threatened if I sought professional help.

3. Seeking psychological help would make me feel less intelligent.

S. Seeking psychological help would make the feel less intelligent.
 My self-esteem would increase if I talked to a therapist.
 My view of myself would not change just because I made the choice to see a therapist.
 It would make me feel inferior to ask a therapist for help.
 I would feel okay about myself if I made the choice to seek professional help.

8. If I went to a therapist, I would be less satisfied with myself.

9. My self-confidence would remain the same if I sought professional help for a problem I could not solve.

10. I would feel worse about myself if I could not solve my own problems.

Items 2, 4, 5, 7, and 9 are reverse scored.

Appendix C: Demographic Form

Pre-Screening Questions

- I. Are you 18 years or older?
 - a. Yes
 - b. No
- II. Are you an emergency services professional?
 - a. Yes
 - b. No
- III. Are you located in the United States?
 - a. Yes
 - b. No

Demographic Questions

- IV. What ethnicity best describes you?
 - a. White
 - b. Hispanic
 - c. Black or African American
 - d. Asian
 - e. Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander
 - f. American Indian
 - g. Prefer not to answer
- V. What is your gender?
 - a. Male
 - b. Female
 - c. Prefer not to answer
- VI. What is your age? (e.g., 21 years old)
- VII. What is your highest level of education?
 - a. High School Diploma/GED
 - b. Some College
 - c. Associate degree
 - d. Bachelor's Degree
 - e. Master's degree
 - f. Doctoral Degree
- VIII. What discipline(s) do you represent?
 - a. Law Enforcement
 - b. Fire
 - c. EMS
 - d. 911 Telecommunications
 - e. Death Investigation
- IX. What region of the country do you provide emergency services work in?

- a. Pacific Region
- b. Rocky Mountain Region
- c. Mid-West Region
- d. Southwest Region
- e. Southeast Region
- f. Northeast Region
- X. How many years have you been an emergency services provider? (e.g., 10 years) (Drop Down Menu on Survey).
 - a. Less than one year
 - b. One to five years
 - c. Five to ten years
 - d. Ten to fifteen years
 - e. Fifteen to twenty years
 - f. More than twenty years
- XI. What employment status best represents your involvement in emergency services?
 - a. Full-time
 - b. Part-time
 - c. Volunteer
 - d. Contract
- XII. Would you attend a Critical Incident Stress Debriefing if offered after a traumatic event?
 - a. Yes
 - b. No